




  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

1 
 

Mashpee Planning Board 

 Minutes of Meeting 

Friday, December 21, 2022 at 7:00PM 

Mashpee Town Hall - Waquoit Meeting Room 

16 Great Neck Road North 

Mashpee, Ma 02649 

 

Broadcast Live on Local Channel 18  

Call-in Conference Number: (508)-539-1400 x 8585 

Streamed Live on the Town of Mashpee website 

https://www.mashpeema.gov/channel -18 

 

Present: Chair Mary Waygan, Dennis Balzarini, Karen Faulkner, Mike Richardson, John 

Fulone, Robert (Rob) Hansen 

Also Present: Evan Lehrer – Town Planner, Christopher Kirrane – Attorney representing 

Forestdale Road, LLC & Pleasantwood Homes LLC, Mark Dibb- Cape and Islands 

Engineering, Dan Marsters – Pleasantwood Homes LLC 

Virtually Present: Ed Pesce – Consulting Engineer  

CALL TO ORDER 

Chairwoman Waygan called the meeting of the Planning Board to order at 7:00P.M. The 

Pledge of Allegiance was recited.  

 

APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES – December 09, 2022  

No comments were made regarding the meeting minutes for December 09, 2022.  

 

MOTION:  

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to accept the meeting minutes for December 09, 2022 as 

written. Seconded by Ms. Faulkner. All in favor. Mr. Fulone abstained.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING  

7:10P.M. (Continued from 10/19/22) 

   Applicant:  Marcello Mallegni, Forestdale Road, LLC  

   Location:   532 Main Street (Map 26, Block 6) 

Request:   The applicant requests consideration for approval of a 9 lot      

definitive subdivision plan of land consisting of approximately 

18.05 acres located on Main Street (Route 130) between 

Nicoletta’s Way and Echo Road. 

 

https://www.mashpeema.gov/channel%20-18


  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

2 
 

Mr. Kirrane is present on behalf of the applicant Forestdale Road, LLC. He is here to discuss 

two matters. Under Section 174-40, in dealing with the 200 ft. requirement, he looked into the 

exception that states if the lot was created before 1996, you don’t need to meet that 200ft., but 

you would need to meet the maximum feet feasible. This lot was created well before 1996, 

therefore would fall under that exception. He read into the record a document given to him by 

Chair Waygan. The plan of land that was recorded at the county Registry of Deeds in plan 

book 272 page 49, states the lot was signed off by the surveyor in January 1973. The second 

matter he would like to discuss is the traffic study. Last meeting Mr. Lehrer provided the Board 

with a few proposals from various traffic studies and the Board approved the study to be 

performed. His reading of the subdivision rules and regulations would require the Board to 

select the specific engineer for said study. His applicant is asking if the Board would entertain 

having his own consultant perform the traffic study.  

 

Mr. Lehrer stated the Board authorized his office to award the RFQ to lowest price and most 

qualified firm. They received 6 or 7 responses, he will have to refer to his records. The lowest 

bid was $13,000 from Vanasse & Associates, Inc. It would be his department’s 

recommendation that the Board conduct their own traffic assessment for peer review, but the 

project proponent is welcome to contract his own in addition. He would still recommend the 

Board proceed with hiring its own consultant for this specific purpose.   

 

Ms. Waygan reiterated the recommendation that the Board continue that authorization through 

his office, and to choose the consultant based on procurement rules. That consultant conducts 

the traffic study and the applicant can conduct their own or peer review the Boards. The Board 

will continue on with previous authorization, and the Planning Department will procure and 

choose a consultant for the study.  

 

Mr. Kirrane commented that his client does want to move this forward and he will confirm with 

Mr. Lehrer the chosen traffic engineer for the study. He would ask for a continuance for the 

second meeting in February as 60 days should be more than enough time.  

 

Mr. Lehrer noted the scope of work will be 4-6 weeks, but they will need time to enter into an 

agreement for the contract execution period, 60 days may not be enough time. He confirmed 

the most advantageous price and qualified firm was submitted for Vanasse & Associates. They 

notified the other consultants they were not best price.  

 

Mr. Kirrane asked for a continuance for the second meeting in March. That would be March 15, 

2023 at 7:10p.m.  

 

Ms. Waygan opened up the floor for Public Comment. Ms. Waygan authorized the Town 

Planner to go to the next bidder if there was an issue with timely procurement.   



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

3 
 

MOTION:  

Mr. Fulone made a motion to award this traffic study scope to Vanasse & Associates, 

Inc. Seconded by Mr. Balzarini. All in favor.  

 

MOTION:  

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to authorize the Town Planner to move on to the next 

qualified bid if Vanasse & Associates, Inc cannot perform this task in the prescribed 

time frame. Seconded by Mr. Fulone. All in favor.  

 

PUBLIC COMMENT  

Robert Maffei, Peter Briggs, and Lance Lambros are present tonight on behalf of the 

Nicoletta’s Way Association. Last time they were here discussing the possibility for Nicoletta’s 

Way to provide access to Mr. Mallegni. This was a very back and forth deal. The costs came 

down to about 10% of what a new road would cost. They specifically promised, if they could, 

they would make this a safer issue, and their proposal was very reasonable. The last 

communication was the red writing from the lawyers and then communication ceased. Mr. 

Lambros found out about this hearing and they wanted to come and make everyone aware of 

what transpired. The Board asked them to consider this proposal and everyone in the 

community knows they listen to neighbors. They went to the applicant and the impression they 

got was it came down to money. In total, $35,000 per curb cut comes out to roughly $300,000. 

Road costs for a new road is somewhere in the ballpark of $3,000,000. When they purchased 

the road it was designed in this exact fashion to protect assets. They are all Cape Cod people, 

the area is kept nice, and if anyone has the opportunity to drive down, it is nicely paved with 

plantings and it is kept free of litter. They plow, sand, and when that side was up for 

development they expected that side to keep up their part. They are here tonight to let the 

Board and neighbors know their due diligence was done and it was a fantastic offer. They too 

have safety concerns, if another road is added there will be problems. They understand the 

proponent can’t be forced into taking the deal, but they wanted a chance to come and say they 

heard the requests by the neighbors. They want to do what is best for the town and to allow 

the applicant another chance, as there is still an open contract. There is high speed traffic with 

many trucks entering and exiting, F350s and F550s with trailers. They thought a nice solution 

was created and they were unaware of the outcome, as the Board can see from the 

correspondence provided by the Nicoletta’s Way Association this evening.  

 

Mr. Balzarini reminded everyone a price cannot be placed on a life. He urged the project 

proponent to discuss this deal further. In addition, he thinks there should be signs on Rt. 130 

warning about trucks entering ahead and to slow speeds.  

 

Nicoletta’s Way Association was under the impression the deal was going to be signed off on 

and it just stopped. There was one issue regarding authority and who has the authority to do 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

4 
 

what. There was a request to widen the road so it was safer and the road had been approved 

at that time. If the proponent went for more permits later in his proposal, if he went for 2 more 

lots, he could go for widening at that time. They didn’t want to do that, but based on the Town 

Planners explanation, that would be appropriate. Regarding a traffic study, if one is performed 

in the dead of winter, the volume changes during spring and summer. It will not be accurate if 

performed in January. The amount of landscaping in summer is tripled compared to winter.  

 

Ms. Waygan would like the amount of trucks, number of employees, and types of businesses 

for added data to the traffic study.  

 

Mr. Lehrer wanted to provide two points of clarity. When he and Mr. Lambros spoke, relative to 

including the proposed agreement with the trustees, Mr. Mallegni wanted to make sure 

language was considerate of the fact they couldn’t compel him to widen the road, without 

coming before the Planning Board for a modification with the Boards approval. The reason it 

was suggested to have a different filing and not be a part of this Public Hearing process, it is 

well outside the scope of this Public Hearing process, so it would have to be a new application. 

Relative to the traffic study, the scope of the study will be considerate of Cape Cod winter 

traffic. It is industry best practice to allow for seasonal adjustments. The Town Planner also 

noted as an association, they could request to widen the road, and perhaps they could come 

back in the future to widen.  

 

Nicoletta’s Way Association’s number one concern is safety. It’s the safest way to develop, the 

cost is reasonable and fair, and also what’s best for neighbors. It should be a win.  

 

Sam Geoffrion- She is a property owner on Echo Road. As an owner on the left hand side, 

she would also like to see them use Nicoletta’s Way. This road is going to expose all of their 

backyards to travel. Construction companies back yards aren’t the most attractive, but it also 

opens up to vandalism and theft. She agrees about the traffic study, if it is not performed when 

all the earth working companies are in full swing, but Echo Road is also full of those 

companies that aren’t working a lot in January and February. Echo Road is already busy with 

Stonewood on the corner and how they get their deliveries, now with Cape Cod Coffee one 

more street over, another road is the last thing this section of Rt. 130 needs. 

 

Ed Pesce, Consulting Engineer, wanted to point out that traffic engineers commonly do studies 

outside of the peak time of year. There are recognized methodologies to adjust what gets 

calculated for peak periods. They don’t just take conditions today and adjust them for growth, 

there are built in systems to do so. He agrees with getting data from abutters, like amount of 

employees, size and types of businesses, etc. Vanasse & Associates are very good at what 

they do.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

5 
 

Arden Russell- She lives on Sturgis Lane, across from the proposed project, she just wanted 

to reiterate and confirm the intensity of use for that area. She inquired about the status of the 4 

acre transfer to be used for open space for that development.  

 

Mr. Kirrane has no update regarding the open space, but the Board is requiring them before 

any approval for it to be done. It is also a requirement of the Cape Cod Commission. He will 

ensure the applicant puts that on the front burner.  

 

Ms. Waygan commented there was one Board member who commented regarding the use of 

Nicoletta’s Way. She would appreciate if the Attorney would reiterate all the aforementioned 

concerns to the project proponent ASAP, before the traffic study is performed. This is his 

opportunity to go in a way that the Board and the community would like him to go. The Board is 

willing to make an extension if they would like to hire a mediator. She is now aware of the 

willingness to make a deal.   

 

Mr. Kirrane will impress upon the applicant everything the Board stated this evening.  

 

MOTION:  

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to continue the Public Hearing to March 15, 2022 at 

7:10P.M. Seconded by Mr. Richardson. All in favor.  

 

7:20P.M. (Continued from 11/02/2022) 

Applicant:   Pleasantwood Homes LLC  

   Location:   20 Tudor Terrace (Map 29, Block 198)  

Request:   The applicant requests approval of a modification to Spring    

Hill West Definitive Subdivision Plan of land that would modify 

the lot lines of Lots 40, 41, and 42, to give adequate frontage 

for three new building lots proposed for incorporation into the 

subdivision. The three proposed lots to be created and 

incorporated into the cluster subdivision are on a parcel of 

land totaling 6.024 acres. This proposal will continue the 

cluster configuration of the existing subdivision and will add 

2.49 acres to open space consistent with the requirements of 

the Mashpee Zoning Bylaw at the time of cluster subdivision’s 

approval in 1989.  

 

7:25P.M. (Continued from 11/02/2022) 

Request:    Pleasantwood Homes LLC   

Location:      20 Tudor Terrace (Map 29, Block 198)  



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

6 
 

  Request: The applicant requests approval of a modification to 

a special permit approved October 6, 2022 that approved the 

creation of 45 single-family building lots in cluster 

configuration on 23.738 acres of land and preserved 17.153 

acres of open space. The applicant seeks to modify the special 

permit decision to incorporate the additional three building 

lots proposed.  

 

MOTION:  

After this Public Hearing was opened, Mr. Balzarini made a motion to continue this 

Public Hearing to 7:40P.M. to allow for the completion of Public Comment from the 

Forestdale Road, LLC Public Hearing. Seconded by Mr. Richardson. All in favor.  

 

Ms. Waygan recognized the project proponent.     

 

Christopher Kirrane is representing the applicant Dan Marsters, and is present tonight with 

Mark Dibb from Cape and Island Engineering. They are before the Board to address a number 

of items from the continuance. There are revised plans as well as a letter to address questions 

about the ancient way and what bylaw the provisions will go under. Based on the neighbor’s 

questions and concerns about proximity to their property, and how much clearing would be 

done, they provided an overlay. The biggest items were engineering related and Mr. Dibb and 

Mr. Pesce can speak to that. The well monitoring was part of the initial special permit, and was 

to be done by the homeowner’s association while it still existed in 1990. The established 

restrictive covenants had no provisions to extend and they expired in September 2020 as the 

law states they only have a 30 year period. There is no monitoring that these lots would 

require, but these lots are 40,000 s.f., larger than any lots in the subdivision, and would not 

create any overload of nitrogen. He would ask the Board to not require any monitoring and 

nobody seemed to enforce it in the last 30 years. There was a condition regarding the 1,000 

s.f. lawns, and in their review of the development, all the lawns are greater than 1,000 s.f. 

What they are proposing remains consistent with the neighborhood. They have two mitigation 

tactics. The applicant provided funds for a shellfish stock in lieu of allowing greater sized 

lawns. They are also proposing conditions for conservations regarding lawns and how they are 

installed. They are happy to have the Board enforce those in lieu of waiving the lawn size 

condition. With the bylaw back in 1988, the Board had discretion, if it was in the public’s best 

interest, to have smaller lots and less frontage or less setbacks under the cluster subdivision. 

These lots are undersized for requirements back then, and zoning today is 80,000s.f. 

minimums, they are proposing less, with 100 ft. of frontage. For curbs, that figure is based on 

the setback line. In this case, the setback line is 100 ft., they would request the Board to set 

the standard minimum of 25,000 s.f.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

7 
 

Ms. Waygan asked about the percentage of lot coverage.  

 

Mr. Kirrane stated lot coverage is 20% in the R5. The minimum would be based on today’s 

zoning of 20%. Minimum frontage would be 65ft and 70ft along curbs.  

 

Mr. Dibb commented the majority of items provided were informational questions on existing 

conditions, exhibit of building envelopes, and an overlay of both the subdivision plan with 

typography and utilities in the street, resolution from comments, and Mr. Pesce’s comments 

that resulted in minor changes. They submitted new plans a couple weeks ago and today they 

submitted reduced sets. He noted three changes between the two sets of plans, the first page 

they added the existing nitrogen loading credit land notes. The second item was on the third 

sheet, they provided a cross section detail regarding how drainage would work and requiring 

all driveways to drain away from the street or have drainage included, not allowing the entire 

house and driveway to flow onto the cul-de-sac. Lastly, they included roof drainage. When the 

Chair inquired about roof drainage, he noted typical to any plan going through conservation, 

there will be a series of gutters going to down spouts into dry well roof drains.   

 

Mr. Kirrane highlighted that the open space was brought up to 50%.  

 

Ms. Faulkner noted from the 1989 cluster it was 2.49 acres, and now it will be 3.012.  

 

Ms. Waygan wanted to acknowledge Ed Pesce and asked him to elaborate more on the 

nitrogen credit.  

 

Mr. Pesce commented that he and Mr. Dibb held a working session that resulted in the revised 

plans the Board has now. He noted two sheets were provided this evening, but they will still be 

submitting a four sheet set. Mr. Dibb elaborated no changes were made to the other two 

sheets. The changes Mr. Pesce proposed at the last meeting were to protect the drainage to 

the circle on Tudor Terrace. One was to provide roof drain dry wells for infiltration and the 

second was to control runoff from the driveways. Mr. Dibb provided new cross section detail for 

the driveway with appropriate notes of what needed to be done. Mr. Pesce asked him to 

provide a 5 foot paved apron from the edge of the existing pavement on Tudor Terrace going 

to the interior of driveway. There would be a transition from pavement to whatever material the 

driveway would become. He wanted the transition on private land. He also showed the roof 

drain dry well to be connected and the Board has enforcement power when houses get 

constructed. The last item was to have the catch basins pumped and inspected, and to have a 

condition as well as a letter provided to the Board describing and summarizing that inspection. 

He is unsure exactly how many catch basins are involved, there is one in the circle area, and 

he doesn’t recall if there is another pair upstream. From the cul-de-sac, upstream is towards 

Windsor Way, but in the least, the catch basins in the cul-de-sac and the first set towards 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

8 
 

Windsor be inspected and pumped, at a minimum. If there is anything in failure, they are 

required to repair and provide documentation of that repair or upgrade.  

 

Mr. Lehrer wanted to reiterate that Tudor Terrace is a town layout so he would request that be 

coordinated with the Mashpee DPW. Mr. Kirrane asked if they fail, can his client do anything 

because they are town owned.   

 

Mr. Pesce noted if they fail, he can’t imagine the DPW will reject repairs on a public way for 

catch basins that do not function adequately. They just need to be pumped out and 

maintained.  

 

Ms. Waygan asked who owns the drain system on cul-de-sac.  

 

Mr. Pesce reiterated it is part of the public way. He delved into the nitrogen loading summary. 

He went over that extensively, Mr. Dibb has not provided some of the documentation he gave 

Mr. Pesce to explain some of that. It’s the obligation of the applicant to provide that 

clarification. He thinks it’s important for the Board to have in the record, those plans marked in 

red, and the number of bedrooms, lots, and total area with a cover letter explaining that. His 

interpretation of the easement document submitted before is correct with the total limit of 

bedrooms being 31. The grant and Title V easement restriction document clarified 31 and 

demonstrated where it came from. His next question was about the new lots being created with 

nitrogen credit land. Mr. Dibb explained every new lot, 48, 49, and 50 are the new lots in 

previously undeveloped parcels. There are three new lots even though portions of two other 

lots exist, they are not additional. What he showed was that each lot exceeds 40,000 s.f. and 

each one complies with the DEP nitrogen loading requirement restriction for nitrogen sensitive 

areas by having 40,000 s.f. for a four bedroom home. They will be restricted to no more than 4 

bedrooms for 48, 49, and 50. He recommend that be a condition. Lots 41a and 42 had 

additional notes added talking about nitrogen loading credit land that was provided already to 

those parcels to get the 40,000s.f. He is satisfied that the nitrogen sensitive land use restriction 

by Title V has been addressed with current design.  

 

Ms. Waygan echoed that lot 41A and 42 are shy of 40,000 s.f., so there is other land set aside 

for the s.f difference where the nitrogen credit exists.  

 

Mr. Pesce requested another plan showing the credit land from each lot that explains it better.  

 

Mr. Dibb stated he took the recorded plan of land that showed the nitrogen credit land and 

each lot on that plan he put the bedroom amounts identified. He wrote the bedrooms and 

counted them to total 31, just as a way to show a different visual. He would be happy to 

provide that document to the Board.  



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

9 
 

Mr. Pesce spoke about the two conditions that were referenced earlier. The 1,000 s.f. of lawn 

on a previous decision and a water quality sampling. He was going to recommend as a 

mitigation to require full water quality sampling. The original decision from 1989 required an 

extensive monitoring program. He doesn’t understand why it never happen, it was in the error 

of Otis and JBCC that was just discovering contamination migrating off base. From 1991-1998 

he was involved with that and is very familiar. He knows there are not significant pollutants, 

and the ones that had were addressed federally, but he doesn’t think there is a public health 

threat here. It would be an awful lot of work to burden the homeowner with the sampling.  

 

Ms. Waygan checked and this area is in Phase 3 of sewer and would rather the homeowners 

save their money for the sewer.   

 

Mr. Pesce recommends individual homeowners with private wells need to prove water quality 

is drinkable. The second thing he would like to mention would be mitigation for the greater than 

1,000 s.f. of lawn. The requirement is to use organic slow release fertilizer only, not 

commercial chemical fertilizer.  

 

Mr. Kirrane noted the Board of Health will need a copy proving the water quality so a copy can 

be provided to the Planning Board as well. 

 

Mr. Fulone asked how the slow release organic fertilizer was enforced.   

 

Mr. Kirrane stated obviously some of these conditions have not been enforced. The best the 

applicant can do is put prospective homeowners on notice and he suggested language to be 

included on deeds. This one about fertilizers, if the Board wants to add the language about 

organic for enforcement, the Building Commissioner would have to enforce.   

 

Mr. Balzarini brought up Title V systems, but they are doing away with those systems. In 10-20 

years the homeowner will need to put a new system in. Are they thinking about alternative 

systems?  

 

Mr. Dibb commented his engineering firm is always taking calls and questions where clients 

are asking about nitrogen reducing systems, if they should transition to them now or in 5-10 

years. Each town will create a water shed management permit which will extend over 5 years 

to 20 years. As this development is under potential Phase 3 of sewer, that could also be 

another 10-20 years. Their response as an engineering company is to consider it, but they are 

hesitant to condition it.  

 

Ms. Waygan asked if the owner would accept a condition for homes to be designed for easy 

hook up to sewer. What she is hearing about homes that were not designed for easy hookup, it 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

10 
 

is zig zagged through the lawn and it is ruining landscaping. It will be an unenforceable 

condition, but as a reminder, so their architect can lay the pipes accordingly.  

 

Mr. Marsters will definitely keep that in mind, regarding the design of the septic and sewer 

hookup.  

 

Mr. Hansen asked in regards to the 1,000 s.f. lawn area, and the topographical presentation, it 

looks ideal for natural growth. Is that what is expected or can a homeowner extend 1,000 feet 

to all lawn area.  

 

Mr. Kirrane stated most homeowners have done that, and this developer is looking for more, 

but the edge of clearing leaves a lot of natural woods left. All they can do is suggest 

homeowners to do what they can, obviously they cannot control 10-30 years down the road, 

but in proposing the development they are leaving lots natural.  

 

Mr. Dibb commented regarding the two lots above lot 41, you can see the intention of the 

builder. There is a 15 ft. strip of green lawn around the house and that’s how these houses are 

going to be built. Again, once they are sold it is up to the homeowner. Mr. Kirrane noted people 

like to keep a degree of privacy.  

 

Ms. Faulkner stated last time some of the abutters were complaining about the lack of trees 

and their privacy being disturbed. This areal looks like plenty of trees, where would that 

disturbance be?  

 

Mr. Dibb referenced the plan pointing at Saxony Drive on the bottom right. Some abutters were 

those 4 houses, he believes. There is 50ft of open space land comprised of trees that they 

don’t even own and they aren’t touching at all. Their open space of 3 acres, which is 

untouchable on top of the 15-20ft lawn around the homes, they anticipate a 350ft natural 

vegetative buffer between houses.  

 

Ms. Waygan asked about houses on Tudor Terrace, lot 42a, that edge of clearance looks like it 

will go right to the lot line. She asked what the setback would be. She also asked if there was 

any requirement for a vegetative buffer.  

 

Mr. Dibb stated it’s a side lot line. The setback to the structure is 15ft and it doesn’t have to be 

vegetative, with no requirement for a vegetative buffer. That lot exists today as 42.  

 

Mr.  Marsters noted existing lots ]are smaller, therefore tighter to the lot lines. The larger lots 

will have more space to leave a buffer in between the lots. That is part of the intent of the lot 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

11 
 

sizes, so there can be more of a vegetative buffer. Generally speaking, they like to do 15ft from 

the house, the intent will be to leave as many trees as possible with buffer on the larger lots.  

 

Mr. Kirrane stated lots 41 and 42, if they weren’t planning anything they could be developed, 

but with the three additional lots, they are trying to give as much buffer as possible. Over 300ft 

allows more than enough privacy. Mr. Marsters alluded to some of the intent of the special 

permit being to create more open space.  

 

Ms. Waygan stated they are already clustering it, not cutting down as many trees, but we are 

in a water crisis so she is trying to think up a condition to save as many trees as possible, and 

she would rather it come from them. It’s safe to say they will continue this hearing so there is 

time for them to think of what kind of condition would need to be put in here to save as many 

trees as possible. For a commercial property, the conversation would be about vegetative 

buffers, but this is a cluster subdivision so it’s odd.  

 

Mr. Balzarini thinks he is leaving a lot of buffer already, and Mr. Fulone was also in agreement 

to that statement.   

 

Ms. Waygan stated she is looking at lot 42a, say you get this permitted and then you sell it. 

What is to prevent the next developer from clear cutting the lots?  

 

Mr. Dibb commented of the 40,000, nothing is preventing that. If he could also extend existing 

Tudor Terrace into this property and create 2 lots per normal zoning, then you can clear cut 

everything plus everything in open space.   

 

Ms. Waygan knows they don’t want to clear cut, but she wants it codified in the decision. She 

likes this plan, but she isn’t sure that line edge of clearing is legally binding.  

 

Mr. Kirrane commented if you put it as a condition of the special permit it would have to be 

enforceable by the Building Commissioner.  

  

Mr. Marsters stated generally speaking, they like to do 15-20ft and in the back 25-30ft from the 

house.  

 

Ms. Waygan wants clarity about that edge of clearing. She wants to make sure it is correctly 

reflecting what he just said, so it can be put in the decision. Mr. Fulone noted it could be a 

condition of the special permit.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

12 
 

Mr. Lehrer suggested that an adequate dimension be established, maybe 30ft or 35ft, but a 

limit of clearing from the rear of any structure to be cited. They could say no clearing beyond 

30ft beyond the rear of any structure to be cited.  

 

Mr. Marsters would prefer to consider from lot line, if they start doing from the structure, 

another 50ft from the rear lot line as an extra buffer.  

 

Ms. Waygan commented that will not suffice regarding lots 48, 49, and 50. That is a lot of trees 

that could still be cut down.  

 

Mr. Marsters stated that is a sizeable buffer, if the intent is to save trees, which still leaves a 

considerable amount of trees being left alone.  

 

Mr. Fulone reiterated he is not saying he will be going out to the 50ft, it would just be an added 

buffer.  

 

Mr. Dibb stated they could push the houses 100ft further back. Those are proposed and not 

written in stone, sometimes conditions make them push it back too, and with some septics they 

may need more space. If it is done from the rear lot line that acts as an established point to 

work off.   

 

Mr. Lehrer commented that does make sense in terms of a condition. He stated the Chair does 

not believe 50ft is adequate, is there a dimension beyond 50ft that would be amenable to the 

project proponent?  

 

Mr. Fulone inquired about the rest of the Board being okay with 50ft.  

 

Ms. Waygan would like to see something engineered.  

 

Mr. Lehrer wanted to make one more comment relative to lot 42a and the houses along 

Windsor Way where the edge of clearing is limited. The Board, in relatively recent 

subdivisions, with new proposed subdivision lots, recognizing 42a is not a new building lot, in 

response to neighbors having a level of discomfort with a new development to the rear of their 

properties. The Board has conditioned a special permit on the installation of a residential style 

stockade fence along the portion of that property line. If the applicant were amenable to such 

condition, the Board could consider that for the benefit of those particular property owners, 

along with whatever landscaping the developer would want to install.  

 

Mr. Marsters asked if the intent was for screening purposes or water quality. Ms. Waygan is 

talking about water quality. He continued with what they are doing in all other aspects of the 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

13 
 

project, such as roof runoff, steps that require more than a lot of existing homes. They are 

taking that into consideration. He thinks if they need to take down more trees on those lots, it 

will not affect the water quality in comparison to what all current homes are practicing. They 

are going far beyond, and he would like the Board to take all that into consideration when 

discussing any other limitation to the clearing.   

 

Ms. Faulkner has always been interested in wastewater. There are individual wells and septic 

systems. She would like to know the distance between those two. She was informed the legal 

distance is 100ft. She asked the project proponent why he did not want to have town water. 

Well water is a bit scary to her. She then asked if he sought approval.   

 

Mr. Marsters stated that is not up to him but to the neighbors to bring it in. He wouldn’t be able 

to do it himself. He did not seek approval for town water. Mr. Lehrer clarified it would have to 

be by petition of the neighborhood. 

 

Mr. Richardson commented he thinks their proposal is very reasonable. 

 

Ms. Waygan thanked them for their December 20th correspondence about the Spring Hill West 

subdivision. This correspondence does not fully dispel her concerns regarding the current 

projects compliance with zoning. She is forming the opinion that the proposed subdivision is 

new and thus needs a new and separate cluster subdivision special permit and approved plan, 

per the current Town of Mashpee Zoning Bylaw Section 174-47. This zoning issue, this is new 

land, if you have 5+ acres in town and you want to subdivide it, you have to use the cluster 

subdivision Section 174-47. It has to be a new special permit and new cluster subdivision, it 

can’t be added to an old special permit or old cluster subdivision. She likes this plan but needs 

them to think of a way that she can approve this. She doesn’t see in the zoning document a 

zoning opinion saying how they can add this parcel into this existing subdivision and permit it 

via modification to a special permit. She needs a completely new special permit and a 

completely new cluster subdivision. She will ask the proponents counsel, there might be case 

law or other examples in town that this has happened, or other examples on Cape Cod or 

Massachusetts. There might be something in Chapter 40a or some state statute that allows 

this, but she hasn’t found it. She is going to leave it up to the proponent to prove to the Board 

they can do this. That would be rolling this new 6 acres into existing, and if the zoning bylaw 

doesn’t allow for this, what would they do to the zoning bylaw to allow it. Even though they 

might all like this plan, it sets a dangerous precedent and opens them up to legal liability. If it’s 

not defensible in court, it will not help them. It’s worth spending the time to give the Board an 

opinion on the zoning, and why this new lot can be permitted via Mashpee zoning in this way, 

she cannot see it.   

 

Mr. Balzarini asked why the existing special permit cannot be used.  



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

14 
 

Ms. Waygan doesn’t see in the bylaw, where it says you can add new land to an existing 

cluster subdivision.  

 

Mr. Balzarini inquired as to why it is considered new land and why it is not preexistent to the 

original cluster subdivision old plan.  

 

Mr. Lehrer would like to think about this from a practical standpoint. Nothing proposed today in 

the plans that the Board received this evening is inconsistent with today’s zoning bylaw.  

 

Ms. Waygan asked where it says you can add outside land by modifying the subdivision and 

special permit.  

 

Mr. Lehrer commented it does not explicitly say, but his practical response then you approve 

this as a new subdivision. You still need to modify the definitive from Spring Hill West.  

 

Ms. Waygan agreed, but if it’s not explicitly allowed, it’s not allowed. If you do it as a new 

subdivision you are going to have incredibly different lot design.  

 

Mr. Lehrer disagrees with that. The current subdivision standards grant far more flexibility to 

establish the dimensional criteria of the subdivision. What is proposed, if the Board is 

amenable to specific criteria of this plan, is perfectly adequate under today’s zoning.  

 

Ms. Waygan disagrees. She asked for a legal opinion last time, being a month ago, and what 

she got was far from what she expected.  

 

Mr. Kirrane was never asked at the last meeting to give an opinion as to why they went 

through the process the way in which they did. It was his understanding that he was asked to 

determine if it was current zoning criteria or existing criteria, so that is what he addressed. He 

is happy to address this question, but that was not what was raised the last time. Part of the 

reason why they did the modification is because two of these lots are part of the existing 

subdivision.  

 

Ms. Waygan is contending that the approach being used cannot be done. She needs to know 

where in zoning this is allowed. If the zoning doesn’t allow that, what do they do to change the 

zoning bylaw to allow it?   

 

Mr. Balzarini would like to take a vote on this. He noted the Chair is one person and she is 

demanding they do something.  

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

15 
 

Ms. Waygan is asking for a zoning opinion, her intention is to send it to Town Counsel because 

she is not convinced that zoning allows for this. Members of the Board protested that it still 

requires a vote. She acknowledged the Public Hearing is not closing. If the project proponent 

wants her vote, she needs this done, but it is up to them. At this point she keeps reading the 

bylaw and she cannot see the avenue they are going is allowed by zoning. She is giving them 

the chance to give her something to hang her hat on.  

 

Mr. Fulone inquired if they voted after the Public Hearing.  

 

Ms. Waygan noted they have to close the Public Hearing prior to a vote. If they choose to 

provide a zoning opinion that goes to Town Counsel, the Public Hearing needs to remain open 

until they get a response.   

 

Mr. Balzarini inquired what they are going to ask Town Counsel.  

 

Ms. Waygan is asking a zoning opinion, to see if their proposed subdivision, the way it is, 

complies with zoning. She doesn’t want the town to waste their money researching that, she 

wants the proponent to do that. Usually zoning opinions are long and technical.  

 

Mr. Kirrane stated the subdivision approval only requires three votes. If he doesn’t have the 

votes he doesn’t want to proceed. Ms. Waygan clarified that a special permit requires four 

votes. She is always consciences about that because she doesn’t want to surprise anyone. At 

this time Ms. Waygan is opening up Public Comment.  

 

Catherine Haskell- She lives on Saxony Drive. A few things came up tonight that she had not 

been thinking about. She has lived here for 36 years and she finds it ironic they run out of time 

for an association but they can develop off an old permit. She doesn’t understand the square 

footage of the lawns. Every time she takes a walk during the drought the lawns are being 

watered in excess. The Planning Board doesn’t seem to know what the test wells are for. 

There was a dump back there, as she was told by the prior land owner. When she was buying 

her land she was told the land was landlocked. Then she called the town years ago and was 

told it was not getting built on. Her well is right at the lot line of the starting 50ft of original open 

space. The developer has cut down every single tree on Tudor Terrace and the first house has 

already cleared back into open space and you can see into the next lot. A couple years ago 

they had the road taken over by the town and they paid betterments at 5% interest, totaling to 

$7/8,000 apiece. Of course she is expecting the builder to pay per home, adding 3 more 

homes should add into the betterment that the people are already paying. The cost is figured 

by dividing how many homes were in that neighborhood, each person got assessed, and you 

could pay up front or over a loan. She would like to see these new homes pay towards the 

betterment. She referenced the Town of Mashpee being sued by the group in Osterville. She 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

16 
 

does not understand it all, but she doesn’t think large projects should be done when we look at 

areas in town like Santuit. Setbacks are not clear and people could install pools. She also isn’t 

seeing any historical or archaeological site work being performed, which might be good to do.    

 

Ken Haskell- He is an original owner in the neighborhood. Water is his biggest concern, this 

was originally a private development, it went through tough times in the 90’s and the 

association did fall apart. There are three different builders that built in there. The town put 

town water on Cotuit Road which was a private development with no association. It was turned 

over to the town and they did a beautiful job. They did not receive the water plan, like the 

builder mentioned, it is up to the town. He doesn’t know how it works, there is no association 

and when they moved here, there weren’t any houses on this side of town. Private drinking 

water is a concern, especially if you build more. He is glad to see the nitrogen was looked at. 

Overall, he is concerned about water. 

 

Ms. Waygan inquired about the preliminary plan being submitted to the Board of Health and 

she inquired if there were any comments.   

 

Mr. Lehrer stated the BOH lacked a quorum for the definitive but the scope of the BOH is 

septic and drinking water.   

 

Stephen Ferreira – Him and his wife bought their home four years ago, one major deciding 

factor was the woods, with fears it would be developed. Some preservations were made but 

there are no guarantees, and the new owners decided to cut trees down. Once trees come 

down there is no remediation, it would take 40 years for one tree to grow. He didn’t measure 

but he looked at the circle at Tudor Terrace, visually it is smaller than Saxony Drive, and there 

are only three houses. Now there is proposition to add more houses, it doesn’t seem to meet 

the current neighborhood layout. He thinks they should be preserving woods.  

 

Ms. Waygan asked Mr. Dibb to show the distance to Saxony Drive. Mr. Dibb provided existing 

50ft and proposed existing three acres of open space resulting in 360ft.  Ms. Waygan noted 

there is more open space behind him than some other parcels. She clarified that open space is 

deed restricted conservation.   

 

Mike Hannan – He came to hear about the Old Barnstable Road project. He lives in a 

Pleasantwood home in Qaushnet Valley Estates. In front of his house, after rainfall there is a 

flood that goes up half the length of a car door. At the time he called on the DPW and they did 

respond, they told him they would need to dig up the yard. He observed the runoff flooding 

from Quashnet Valley Golf Course and the construction of his house diverted water from the 

course to the street. They have two catch basins. He begged, it is clearly coming from the golf 

course, and they placed sand bags along the road. The flooding stopped or slowed 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

17 
 

significantly. He constantly goes out with his rake to free the basins, and he understands there 

can be real world impacts, this time it’s his property to deal with. At some point there was a 

grading plan that was approved and at the end of the day, he is not trying to complain, it is his 

issue and his flooding. It is also his hope and dream that someday they will figure it out. Down 

the line this stuff will fall onto the homeowner, just something to keep in mind.   

 

Tom Fudala – He introduced himself as the previous Town Planner for 33 years, and was the 

Planner who wrote the special permit for Spring Hill. He also wrote the current cluster zoning 

bylaw, and you cannot expand on a 1988 cluster subdivision by adding additional land that 

was owned by a totally different person, at the time the subdivision was originally created. 

There is no process for that in the town zoning. This is a brand new subdivision that needs to 

conform to the current cluster subdivision rules and regulations and the town bylaw. The bylaw 

requires any subdivision over 5 acres is a mandatory cluster subdivision requiring a special 

permit from the Planning Board, its own special permit, not tag on to a 1988 special permit. 

The process is not good. This is not a modification it has to be a brand new special permit 

under current zoning. There are specific procedures in the current cluster bylaw that should’ve 

been followed. He is not commenting on the content of the plan, it is the process. This hearing 

is illegitimate, the applicant will need to be asked to withdraw and start over again with a brand 

new cluster subdivision under the current zoning bylaws, and not zoning that was eliminated 

by Town Meeting in 2006. You can ask for an opinion from the lawyer, and he can come up 

with something, but he doubts it will be legitimate. There is no statute or case law that says 

you can add anything to an existing old special permit property. Since streets have been taken 

over by the town, they have a right to access in Spring Hill and Spring Hill West, but beyond 

that there is no connection to the two properties. There was one special permit in town that has 

been able to be modified and that is the Willowbend special permit. The original special permit 

allowed for a certain number of housing units and the bylaw provides for expanding that 

subdivision onto whatever number of units they want do on the 5 acre property, until they hit 

the max number of units, but no other special permit in town. He got an impression they might 

be expanding on lots, there are three buildable lots, which would be based on total s.f. of the 

new property, and divide that by 80,000, which is current minimum lot size, which would tell 

you how many building lots you can have. There is no reason you can’t take little pieces of 

land that are not building lots and label it a not building lot and then have language to transfer 

to another owner, he is not clear. You can label some unbuildable lots to be transferred to the 

adjacent lot at some point. As for the water quality reporting, in 1980 before the water district 

and Sewer Commission, this was done through Board of Health. They were asking for these 

monitoring wells to be in place for nitrogen, it had nothing to do with the base. They were 

concerned about drinking water before a public water system was even in place. The 

unfortunate thing about the 1,000s.f. lawns, which also applied to the previous subdivision, the 

intent was minimizing fertilizer, and that has been violated all over town. The only enforcement 

officer in town is the Building Commissioner and there were other subdivisions that had water 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

18 
 

quality monitoring, who hired their own consultants to report to the Planning Board, and 

eventually they came to ask for modifications to relieve of that requirement. Ashers Heights 

was relieved of the reporting requirement but they had to leave the monitoring wells in place. 

They were used as ground water models for the sewer plant. The applicant really has to start 

all over again with a new application. The Planning Board can’t just vote to approve this, it has 

to go through Town Meeting, because that’s who decides on zoning.  

 

Patrick Swanson- He has lived here about 20 years and always knew development would 

happen on Tudor Terrace. This particular proposal is maybe biting off more than should be 

chewed on. Perhaps reducing some lot sizes or combining into one might be more in tune with 

current lot sizes. He thinks five lots around that cul-de-sac would be a lot of driveways. He is 

opposed to this the way it is, but he is not opposed to building houses.  

 

Mr. Kirrane asked for a continuance for the second meeting in January.  

 

MOTION:  

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to continue the Public Hearing to January 18, 2023 at 

7:10pm. Seconded by Ms. Faulkner. All in favor.  

 

NEW BUSINESS 

Discussion and possible vote for Meeting Calendar: 2023    

 

MOTION:  

Mr. Richardson made a motion to accept the meeting calendar as presented for 2023. 

Seconded by Ms. Faulkner. All in favor.  

 

OLD BUSINESS  

Discussion regarding applications submitted to the Community Preservation Committee 

for funding in May 2023  

Ms. Waygan was looking for guidance from Board members regarding the purchase of 9 

Santuit Lane, as she is the CPC representative. They have heard from the property owner and 

members of the CPC, and they have an offer on the property that has been accepted and is 

contingent on some due diligence.  

 

Ms. Faulkner went to the property and there is conservation owned by the town, it sounds like 

a good idea for trails, and it sits on Santuit Pond. She has several issues, one being the house 

has to be torn down, as it is in really bad condition. She talked to Selectwoman Colombo, who 

told her that cyanobacteria is not airborne. She would like to know if there has ever been a 

study. Also, why would someone want to walk through trails with airborne bacteria? The road 

leading to the property is a dirt road. It is not conducive to parking. Without a doubt, she does 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

19 
 

not think this parcel is worthy of acquiring for the town. However, she would like to know if 

there was a way to test the air quality.  

 

Mr. Hansen observed the property and he is also not in favor of town ownership as it does not 

serve the towns purpose.  

 

Ms. Waygan referenced 751 Main St., which was an application submitted by the Planning 

Board who wrote a recommendation letter, went into executive session. She was just updating 

there was no vote yet. Ms. Waygan acknowledged Lynne Barbee for comment.  

 

Lynne Barbee- She sits on the CPC and also drove past 9 Santuit Lane. She does not know 

how the town could use it, but the idea that someone would buy it and try to put a septic tank 

there is horrifying. There is the issue of the private road, although public conservation land, it is 

on a private road. The land is not big so they may not get anyone to buy it. There are many 

problems with the lot. If the town were to have preserved open space there it would have to 

serve a certain value to the town. She does not know how much the cost would be, if they 

don’t sell and the town doesn’t acquire it, someone else may and it will be a mess. It’s a thin 

strip of land with houses all around. She would hate to see someone try and build a house and 

put in a septic as it’s located right on the water. She asked if it were possible to have a piece of 

land that is just open space, not designed to be trails, or if that creates a whole other problem. 

She concurs this is a dilemma. The question remains if it is beneficial to preserve open space 

that is contiguous to one of our most polluted ponds.  

 

Local Comprehensive Plan Updates with Weston and Sampson  

Survey Update  

Mr. Lehrer noted the survey is rolling, he has gotten adequate responses, around 400. He will 

keep working and is hoping to secure 700. The schools have been helpful in facilitating with 

flyers in backpacks and facebook posts. It is steady progress with the peak response day 

being 60 responses, then leveled out to about 10 – 20 a day. He is urging members to push 

neighbors. The average response time is 25 minutes.  

 

Workshops and Focus Groups  

The last workshop will be held Saturday, January 7, 2023. This will be set up as an event with 

Weston & Sampson taking the lead. The changes are due to technical issues he continues to 

experience once he has launched.  

 

Updating the Vision Statement  

Mr. Lehrer would like Weston & Sampson present for the draft proposal for takeaways and 

existing conditions. The January 18th meeting would be adequate as it is after the survey. 

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

20 
 

Workshop on proposed actions  

Mr. Lehrer would like to present the proposed action items in an implementable table to allow 

for review. Ms. Waygan is requesting red line changes to existing conditions. She’s been 

asking for these for so long. This will be included in one package to digest all at once. Mr. 

Lehrer remains unclear about the feasibility of the redline draft. 

 

Affordable and Workforce Housing 

HPP 

This is being finalized, and Mr. Lehrer received feedback that the AHC wants to pursue this in 

a phased approach. Phase one will produce a plan that establishes minimum number of units 

per the DHCD. Once that calculation has been identified, they will pursue a phase two that 

looks at the town’s pipeline. Once the plan is finalized the Planning Board will be provided an 

update. 

 

Regional Housing Strategy  

The Cape Cod Commission has started a regional effort to develop a housing strategy. The 

Commission reached out to the Town Manager to identify representatives to attend. He was 

asked, Ms. Waygan, the Chair of the Affordable Housing Committee, Selectwoman Colombo, 

along with one other individual. Ms. Waygan stated there are draft forms to review and she 

would like Mr. Lehrer to reach out to the Town Manager to read the original email and share 

the PDFs that were attached. The Commission wants to meet the first week in January. 

 

Clean Water Initiative  

The Select Board has water quality issues as a standing agenda item. There is a Chapter 40B 

being proposed in Sandwich on the banks of Peters Pond for 350+ units, meaning nitrogen will 

be coming our way. This week they were going to prepare a draft letter to the Town of 

Sandwich that mirrors comments the Town of Sandwich included in their response to the 

DHCD.   

 

Mr. Balzarini always wondered why sewers would not align grouped by towns like Sandwich 

and Barnstable. He is angry the state gave millions of dollars allotted for immigrant housing, 

food stipends, and schooling, yet there is no money for people who reside here, like veterans. 

It is backwards.  

 

Ms. Waygan commented that there is also a proposed 800 unit in Falmouth on Sandwich 

Road. She noted the housing bill is up for discussion this year.   

 

TOWN PLANNER REPORT 

Affordable Housing Project – 209 Old Barnstable Road  



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

21 
 

Mr. Lehrer’s office submitted notice to every abutter of the condos off of Quashnet about the 

Affordable Housing Trust procuring a developer for affordable housing. His letter indicated he 

is intending on leading a community engagement process after meeting with a representative 

from the neighborhood. The association has nominated some of their members to be direct 

contacts for the RFP review. He would like to hold a series of workshops like the LCP, to 

identify site design, types of housing, traffic concerns, and issues we can understand to 

mitigate impacts. He wanted to update the Board that he formally noticed the neighborhood of 

the process, and it is still evolving as he is waiting to establish direct points of contact. Dates, 

times, and scopes of engagement will involve the Board’s participation. He plans to launch in 

spring 2023, most likely March.  

 

Mike Hannan – He has incomplete information but as he understands, the plan for low income 

housing was originally for Commercial Street over by Marshalls. There were title issues and 

the pivot to Old Barnstable is of concern to him. To name a few items of concern, property 

values and traffic studies, but the pivot remains his biggest issue. There’s available property on 

Commercial Street, as well as behind Town Hall, but there remains a sewer issue. The town 

really hasn’t looked into doing anything with affordable housing in 7 years, so it seems odd to 

him. He understands title issues will take time to work out, but it seems odd from a resident 

standpoint to bypass two viable properties in the sense of the need for affordable housing in 

Mashpee when it has been 7 years. Couldn’t title issues be foreseen by Town Counsel and 

dealt with ahead of time? 

 

Ms. Waygan noted this lot is further along towards development than the other two. The 

original barrier was neighborhood resistance. The Town Planner will be holding meetings to 

see if that can get resolved. The Affordable Housing Trust owns the land and it has already 

been through Town Meeting. The Commercial Street property will be in Land Court for a long 

time.   

 

Mr. Hannan asked what would happen if the overwhelming response from the community was 

not for resolution of this property. His takeaway is to rally his neighbors and community to not 

support this movement.   

 

Mr. Lehrer would like to address some points of clarification. The pivot was logical for 209 Old 

Barnstable Road because it already has a completed feasibility study. The data could then be 

provided to a developer to express the town’s interest to develop it and provide valuable data 

to adequately respond to the RFP. No other site in the pipeline has a completed feasibility 

study performed. Additionally, this land was already transferred to the Affordable Housing 

Trust and approved by Town Meeting for this particular use. It is well positioned for 

development. Commercial Street came about when we were going to proceed with the 

feasibility study. We did not even get to complete that analysis. He went on to say participation 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

22 
 

in welcomed, even from the opposing position. They cannot answer if the Trust would proceed 

due to overwhelming opposition, as the Trust is a 9 member entity.   

 

Ockway Highlands Tripartite Agreement Update  

Mr. Lehrer wanted to report on this for one reason. The Willow Circle subdivision that the 

Board recently approved, is considering using a Tripartite Agreement as a method of security 

for that subdivision. They asked him for a copy to use as a template to provide to Town 

Counsel. He took an opportunity to review the Ockway Highlands agreement. It had some 

clear timelines that he wanted to note. The subdivision was supposed to be completed by April 

of last year. The developer would like to make annual or biannual reports, so Mr. Lehrer would 

like to invite the developer to come and give a status report. The agreement may need to be 

reconsidered since the dates have lapsed.  

 

New Seabury Cottages Phase III 

Mr. Lehrer reported that Mike Milbury, President of the Homeowners Association at New 

Seabury, said they are in a position to take control on maintenance of the roadway systems in 

the cottages. They contacted a number of homes who have experienced flooding and they 

hired a third party consultant to evaluate. Before they were to assume liability of the roadway, 

they wanted to ensure construction of the roadway was done in accordance to plans. The 

report is included in the packet this evening. It indicates issues with the foundations. Mr. Lehrer 

suggested we authorize Mr. Pesce to review existing conditions of the site and determine what 

construction issues or grading issues relating to stormwater. Just to note, the former 

Consulting Engineer did inspect, but we also have the funds. We want to confirm infrastructure 

remains consistent with the original approval. He has some suspicions about grading issues 

which is building code related. It is his recommendation with an abundance of caution that the 

Board authorize Mr. Pesce to investigate. The Board is holding security of $175,000 for various 

improvements pertaining to landscaping, but that is his recommendation at this time. He has 

not been in contact with the developer but it would be prudent if Mr. Pesce is involved. 

 

Mr. Balzaniri was going to bring this up last meeting. The area is not draining right and some 

areas have no catch basins which are leading into people’s homes. 

   

Ms. Waygan would like to send Mr. Pesce out, and she asked who would pay for the bill. Mr. 

Lehrer noted the town would. Ms. Waygan asked if there was a proposed budget for this work. 

Mr. Lehrer stated a transfer of funds could cover costs for the Consulting Engineer. Ms. 

Waygan would like to identify a rough cost right now.  

 

Mr. Pesce stated this is the first he is hearing of this but he would be happy to do the 

inspection. This is Phase III, he is currently inspecting Phase IV, he has never set foot on 

Phase III. He would look at the site, look at the plans, make a recommendation, and have the 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

23 
 

developer come to a meeting. He thinks $3,000 is enough to start. This includes the scope of 

work, inspection, meeting, work session for developer, and a recommendation later to attend 

Public Hearing.  

 

MOTION:  

Mr. Balzarini made a motion to request a budget of $3,000 from the Town Manager’s 

office to cover expenses for the Planning Board Consulting Engineer to examine issues 

at New Seabury Cottages Phase III, and authorize both the Engineer and Town Planner 

to find solutions. Seconded by Mr. Fulone. All in favor.  

 

Ms. Faulkner looked at these pictures and in doing so has identified some serious grading 

problems. Some lawns and pavements will require some digging, is that what Mr. Pesce will be 

doing?  

 

Mr. Lehrer stated he will need to focus on the road and infrastructure that the Board approved, 

if that is not contributing to the flooding issues, and it’s a building code issue, then this would 

be referred to the Building Commissioner.  

 

COMMITTEE REPORTS  

Cape Cod Commission –    Regional Housing Strategy   

Community Preservation Committee- Meeting the first Thursday in January and 

hopefully they will know more about 751 Main 

St. and finalize the vote on 9 Santuit Lane.  

Design Review-  J.Jill is going in across from Panera at the 

Commons. They are crazy about signage, 

window signs, blade sign, and corner signs, 

this store will not be mistaken. They have a 

sunbrella awning, a fairly big store just under 

9,000s.f. and they expect to open March/April.   

Plan Review-      No Meeting  

Environmental Oversight Committee-   No Meeting  

Historic District Commission-    No Meeting  

 

CORRESPONDENCE 

Ms. Waygan briefly mentioned the invitation to consult Beacon Wind Project. Ms. Faulkner 

noted this was a windfarm going down toward Montauk Point. Mr. Hansen stated all power will 

be going to NYC. The map shows a line running to Queens, NY.  

 

 

 



  Town of Mashpee                                     Planning Board  
                      16 Great Neck Road North  
                      Mashpee, Massachusetts 02649 

24 
 

ADJROUNMENT  

Mr. Fulone made a motion to adjourn the meeting of the Planning Board at 9:51p.m. 

Seconded Mr. Balzarini. All in favor.  

 

Next Meeting:  Wednesday, January 4, 2023 @ 7:00PM  

    Wednesday, January 18, 2023 & 7:00PM 

    

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

 

 

 

 

Christine M. MacDonald  

Board Secretary  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LIST OF DOCUMENTS  

Additional documents may located in the Planning Department.  

- Mike Milbury email Cottages Phase III and Report  

- Invitation to consult on the Beacon Wind Project and notification of using the Nation 

Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) process to fulfill Section 106 obligations.  

- Town of Falmouth Notices  

- Town of Barnstable Notices  

- Town of Sandwich Notices  

- October 2022 Discharge Monitoring Report for South Cape Village – N= 2.9  

- September 2022 Discharge Monitoring Report for South Cape Village – N= 2.9  

- August 2022 Discharge Monitoring Report for South Cape Village – N= 3.4  
 











































 

 
January 10, 2023 
 
Ms. Mary Waygan, Chairwoman 
Mashpee Planning Board 
16 Great Neck Road North 
Mashpee, MA 02649 
 
 
RE:   Spring Hill West Subdivision Modification 
 Existing Nitrogen Aggregation Plan Summary 
 
Dear Chairwoman Waygan: 
 

Please allow this letter to serve as an informational summary of the Nitrogen Aggregation Plan that is currently in 
place for the above referenced Spring Hill West Subdivision. 

 
Attached (as Attachment A) please find the “Grant of Title 5 Nitrogen Loading Restriction and Easement” 

document as recorded in Deed Book 20944, Page 178. This document outlines the location of the Facility Land and the 
Credit Land. The Facility Lands are those parcels that will benefit from the Restriction and Easement which is put on the 
Credit Land in order to meet the land requirements for a certain amount of bedrooms per lot. 

 
The Facility Land consists of existing lots within the Spring Hill West Subdivision Plan. Attachment B which is the 

“Plan of Nitrogen Loading Credit Land” prepared by Cape and Islands Engineering shows those parcels that benefit from this 
document. The lots included are 13, 16, 18, 8, 7, 38, 39, 40, 41 and 42 which are lots on both Sheffield Place and Tudor 
Terrace. The purpose of this document is to set aside land that will not be a producer of nitrogen for the benefit of these 
parcels. Please note the Red text on the attached document is NOT original text, this text has been added for the benefit of 
providing information. The red text identifies the total number of bedrooms that each parcel is allowed to have when 
considering the existing lot area and the amount of nitrogen loading credit land that is being allocated to that parcel. The 
total of these two areas meets the lot area requirement for the number of bedrooms identified in Red. 

 
The Credit Land is a portion of the existing land area on 20 Tudor Terrace which also identified as Lot 2 in the Plan 

of Nitrogen Loading Credit Land (attachment B).  This plan shows the shaded area location and size (77,019 SF) that is used 
to the benefit of the Facility Land parcels. 

 
For Example, Lot 42 has an existing lot area of 39,544 Square Feet (SF) and it receives the benefit of 456 SF which 

combined totals to an area of 40,000 SF. For nitrogen sensitive lots per the State Environmental Code, Title 5, 1 bedroom is 
allowed per 10,000 SF so a 40,000 SF area is allowed 4 bedrooms. The Attachment B with the Red annotation text outlines 
how the Credit Land is divided up into each lot and how many bedrooms are achieved for each lot. 

 
As identified at the hearing and discussed with Mr. Ed Pesce, a couple typos where noted in the nitrogen 

aggregation document.  
• As noted in paragraph 4, on page 1, the wastewater discharge design flow is 28 bedrooms however on 

page three, section 1, the document notes the land should be restricted to 31 bedrooms. Based on the Red 
annotation text on the map, it appears the appropriate number is 31 bedrooms. Ed. Pesce agrees with this 
assessment.  

• As noted in paragraph 5, page 1, the Credit Land is identified as parcel 2A on the plan entitled “Plan of Land 
located in Mashpee, Massachusetts, Prepared for Rudolf E. Deas, Scale 1”=60ft…” recorded at the 
Barnstable County Registry of Deeds in Plan Book 587, Page 72. After review of this reference plan it is 
clear that the Credit Land should be identified as parcel or Lot 2. This is also confirmed on the Credit Land 
plan in Attachment A showing this parcel as Lot 2. Ed Pesce also agrees with this clarification. 

 



 

The current proposed amendment does not change or modify the conditions or terms of the existing recorded. 
Nitrogen Aggregation Plan. The existing lots will continue to get the same amount of credit that was previously proposed. 
The modified lots 41A and 42A will continue to receive the same amount of nitrogen credit and will be limited to the same 
amount of bedrooms. The three new lots are all created with land area in excess of 40,000 SF and are proposed to have a 
maximum of four (4) bedrooms for each lot. These lots are sized appropriately to meet the current requirements of Title 5 
for lots with both a septic system and a private water supply well for nitrogen sensitive areas. 
 
Please let us know if you have any questions or need any additional information.  
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Mark Dibb, PE 
Senior Project Engineer 
 
Encl.: Site plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Attachment A 
Grant of Title 5 Nitrogen Loading Restriction and Easement 

DB 20955 Pg 178 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 















 

Attachment B 
Annotated Plan of Nitrogen Loading Credit Land 

(Red text has been added for information purposes) 
 
 



\189'50'43" W 180 l)I)'

LOT16 
19.799 SF. 

NITROGE;-.J LOADTI\'G 
CREDIT LAND 

REQUIRED= 10,201 SF. 

179.39' 

N 89''50'-lr W 

LOT 13 
29,898 SF. 

NITROGE:',; LOADING 
CREDIT LAc\'D 

REQliIRED = 11)2 SF. 

UJ 
u 

( 

Existing Nitrogen credit 
Lot# lot area land required 

J or 3 bed rooms 

:5 
------------

DRAINAGE EASEME\iT Sheffield 7 20712 sf 9288sf 

C 

(;':Q 
% .._, 

?� 
- -

"' 

17895, 
S 78'//'08" E �-

LOT 18 
19,784 SF. 

NITROGEN LOADING 
CREDIT LAND 

REQUIRED= 10,216 SF. 

�-__,_179 99, 
S 78"/ 1'56•· E

!S Q
II 

..., a 
-J 
UJ 

UJ 
::i: 
(/) 

� 
-

; 3: 
� z

< 

S 89°50'38'' E 188.51' 

LOT 8 
19,429 SF. 

NITROGEN LOADING 
CREDIT LAND 

REQUIRED= 10,571 SF. 

S 89"50'42" E 201.90' 

N89'50'4l"W 20181' 

LOT? 
20,712 SF. 

NITROGEN LOADING 
CREDIT LAND 

REQUIRED= 9,288 SF. 

3 
b °' 
0 -
' °' 

00 0 " 
- 0 

0 
VJ 

Tudor 

8 19429 sf 10571 sf 
13 29898sf 102 sf 
16 19799 sf 10201 sf 
18 19784 sf 10216sf 

38 20991 sf 9009sf 
39 22198 sf 7802sf 
40 23616sj. 6384sf 
41 17626sf 12374 sf. 
42 39544sf 

Total 75947sf 
+456sf

Total Nitrogen Credit Land Required = 76403 sf 
'\ 89'5[;'--13" \V 

\I 89'50'40" W

• 

60 11 60 120 

REVISED OCT.15 ,2004 

-

II 

<l 

3 
0� 
N °' 
°' 
0 � 
Q -.::r  
0 
en 

180 

; 54JO' 

PLAN OF NITROGEN LOADING CREDIT LAND 
LOCATED IN 

MASHPEE,MASS. 
PREPARED FOR 

PRIME HOMES,INC. 

DATE:SEPT.7,2004 
FILE: 253MA 

SCALE: l" = 60' 
sheff 

CAPE & ISLANDS ENGINEERING 
800 FALMOUTH ROAD,SUITE 301C 

MASHPEE,MASS.02649 [508]477-7272 

OC) �I 
- ""
g; '<:t 
b :::: 
0 
er, 

N 85'36'05" W 

199.95' 

LOT 38 
20,991 SF. 

NITROGEN LOADING 
CREDIT LAND 

REQUIRED= 9,009 SF. 

N 89'50'41" W

19200' 

LOT 39 
22,198SF. 

NITROGEN LOADING 
CREDIT LAND 

REQUIRED= 7,802 SF. 

LOT 40 
23,616 SF. 

L=J47 62' 

11 =32'53'47" R 

a � 
C:� 
0 � 
0 "' 
-';< 

0 
"' 

= 

� NITROGEN LOADING � CREDIT LAND '.\ REQUIRED= 6384 SF. 0cS;7 � LOT 41
, � ,c::,"' 17,626 SF. 
'") ' 

:\'ITROGEN LOADING 
CREDIT LAND 

REQCIRED = 12,37� SF. 

2571 ]' 

S 85'36'26" E 
220 00' 

LOT 42 
39,544 SF. 

NITROGEN LOADING 
CREDIT LAND REQCIRED = 456 SF. 

LOT2 

6.02 ACRES 

Nitrogen credit 
land required 

for 4 bedrooms 

456sf 

3 BEDROOMS

3 BEDROOMS

3 BEDROOMS

3 BEDROOMS 3 BEDROOMS

3 BEDROOMS

3 BEDROOMS

3 BEDROOMS

3 BEDROOMS

4 BEDROOMS

(9) AT 3 BEDROOMS = 27

(1) AT 4 BEDROOMS = 4

TOTAL = 31



 

 

PESCE ENGINEERING & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
43 Porter Lane 

West Dennis, MA 02670 
Phone: 508-333-7630 
epesce@comcast.net 

 

 
January 17, 2023 

 
Mashpee Planning Board 
Attn: Mr. Evan Lehrer, Town Planner 
Mashpee Town Hall  
16 Great Neck Road North 
Mashpee, MA 02649 
 
 
RE:  Engineering Review of the Proposed Tudor Terrace Subdivision Modification  
        Sprig Hill West Definitive Subdivision, Mashpee, MA 
 
Dear Mr. Lehrer & Members of the Planning Board:  
 
Pesce Engineering & Associates, Inc. is pleased to provide you this engineering review of the 
application package for the proposed modification of the Spring Hill West Definitive Subdivision, 
located at Tudor Terrace, Mashpee, MA.  We have evaluated the plans for consistency with the 
Town's Zoning Bylaw, and the Subdivision Rules & Regulations.   
 
In addition to a site visit on November 1st, and attendance at the Planning Board hearings on 
November 2, 2022 & December 21, 2022, we have reviewed the following new information to 
prepare this letter report: 

 

• Site Plans for the proposed subdivision modification, 20 Tudor Terrace, prepared by 
Cape & Islands Engineering, 4 Sheets (revised set), dated August 31, 2022, and revised 
November 2, 21 & 28, 2022, and revised Topographic Plan, dated December 21, 2022.   
 

• Plan entitled “Plan of Nitrogen Loading Credit Land,” prepared by Cape & Islands 
Engineering, 1 Sheet, as revised October 15, 2004. 
 

• Spring Hill West Plan of Land, prepared by Baxter & Nye, Inc., 1 sheet, as revised 
October 19, 1989 and recorded at the Barnstable County Registry of Deeds, in Plan 
Book 467, Page 88. 
 

• “Grant of Title 5 Nitrogen Loading Restriction and Easement,” dated January 13, 2005, 
and recorded at the Barnstable County Registry of Deeds, in Book, 20944, Page 25097. 
 

During the Planning Board hearings, it was explained by the applicant’s team that the main 
purpose of the applications before the Planning Board (for both modification of the Definitive 
Subdivision plans & Special Permit), was to allow the subdivision of the an existing 6 acre 
parcel of land to allow for the creation of 3 new buildable lots (Lots 48, 49 & 50), while also 
modifying 2 existing lots (41 & 42 to become 41A & 42A).  There are no proposed changes to 
the existing drainage system, since there will be no changes to the existing paved cul-de-sac of 
Tudor Terrace. 
 
 
 

 



Mashpee Planning Board 
Tudor Terrace Subdiv. Modification Review 

January 17, 2023 
Page 2 

 
 

 
 

PESCE ENGINEERING & ASSOCIATES, INC.                                          Phone 508-333-7630 
43 Porter Lane, West Dennis, MA 02670  
 

The following are our review comments (previously provided via e-mail and public testimony), 
regarding the site plans, layout, nitrogen analysis and drainage: 
 
1. I mentioned during the November 2, 2022, public hearing that I recommended a couple 

items to allow for the protection of the existing drainage system in Tudor Terrace.  There 
were as follows: 
 

a. Conduct a stormwater inspection of the existing system in the Tudor Terrace cul-de-
sac, pump-out all existing catch basins, and provide a letter (signed by a 
Professional Engineer) stating that this was performed.  
 

b. Provide a roof drain detail, and or, a note requiring all roofs be provided with gutters 
& downspouts, and be connected to subsurface drywells/leaching systems. 

 
c. Provide proposed grading plan showing that the proposed runoff from Driveways will 

not flow to, or contribute to the existing Tudor Terrace system (all runoff flow from the 
new driveways is to be contained on each lot)  
 

2. I recommended an explanation of the Nitrogen Loading Credit Easement Area, and how it 
corresponds to the area shown in Lot 51:  
 

a. I previously read the “Grant of Title 5 Nitrogen Loading Restriction and Easement” 
and mentioned that it referred to a maximum of 28 bedrooms on page 1, and 31 
bedrooms on page 3?  Has the total number of bedrooms that were built been 
confirmed? 

 
b. It seems clear that the attached Nitrogen Aggregation Plan explains which lots 

benefit from the 77,019 SF Nitrogen Loading Credit Land Provided.  This seems 
reasonable and good, but what about nitrogen credit requirements for the new lots 
created? 

 
4. I recommend adding a note regarding the provided Nitrogen Loading Credit Area (77,019 

SF) to Lot 51 on the final plan (to be consistent with the Sep. 2004 Nitrogen Loading Credit 
Land Plan). 
 

5. I recommend adding a driveway detail showing the design cross-section, and showing a 
minimum 5’ pavement length from the edge of pavement at Tudor Terr. (to allow for a 
proper transition from the pavement, if materials other than pavement are used for the 
driveway (gravel, cobblestone, pavers, etc.). 

 
6. I recommend that consideration be given for a Condition involving the use of slow-release 

(nitrogen) organic fertilizer (rather than allow the use of common chemical fertilizer, which 
can dissolve quickly and potentially impact groundwater quality). 

 
NOTE:  During a technical review meeting held between myself and Mr. Mark Dobb of Cape & 
Island Engineering on December 20, 2022, we reviewed the above comments, and discussed 
the details of the nitrogen loading credit easement.  All my nitrogen loading credit land and plan 



Mashpee Planning Board 
Tudor Terrace Subdiv. Modification Review 

January 17, 2023 
Page 3 

 
 

 
 

PESCE ENGINEERING & ASSOCIATES, INC.                                          Phone 508-333-7630 
43 Porter Lane, West Dennis, MA 02670  
 

revision comments were resolved, and Mr. Dibb agreed to make the necessary edits to the final 
plans. 
 
Thank you for this opportunity to assist the Planning Board in their review of this project, and as 
always, please call or e-mail me if you have any questions or comments. 
 

Sincerely,  
 
PESCE ENGINEERING & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

 
Edward L. Pesce., P.E., LEED ® AP 
Principal  
 
 
cc: Mark Dibb, Cape & Islands Engineering 







TRIPARTITE AGREEMENT 
 

 

 

Agreement made this ______day of January, 2023 by SILVA DEVELOPMENT LLC (the 

“Applicant”), a Massachusetts limited liability company with an address of 65 Cape Road, 

Mendon, MA 01756 and NORWOOD BANK, a Massachusetts banking corporation with an 

address of 11 Central Street, Norwood, MA 02062 (the “Lender”), with the PLANNING BOARD 

of the TOWN OF MASHPEE (the “Board”). 

 

The Applicant is the owner of a subdivision of land known as Willow Circle, as shown on a plan 

entitled: modification to Willow Circle Definitive Subdivision Plan, prepared for Southworth 

Mashpee Properties LLC, prepared by Baxter Nye Engineering & Surveying, Inc, dated September 

10, 2021  (the “Definitive Plan”) and endorsed by the Mashpee Planning Board on January 5 2022 

and recorded with the Barnstable County Registry of Deeds at Book 694 Page 50 

 

Applicant’s predecessor in title, Southworth Mashpee Properties LLC, executed and recorded with 

said Registry of Deeds a Covenant with the Board to construct ways and install services within 

said subdivision dated December 13, 2021 and recorded on January 27, 2022 -with said Registry 

of Deeds in Book 34860, Page 128 (the “Covenant”); 

 

The Applicant has granted a first mortgage to the Lender covering all of the lots in said subdivision 

in order to finance the cost of said construction and installation which said mortgage is dated March 

31, 2022 and recorded with said Barnstable County Registry of Deeds in Book 35014, Page 96; 

 

The Applicant wishes to obtain a release of all of said lots from the Covenant without posting a 

bond or depositing money with the Board and is desirous of having the Lender retain sufficient 

funds otherwise due the Applicant to secure the full performance of its obligations to construct the 

ways and install the services to the mortgaged premises, all as provided in M.G.L.c.41, s.81U and 

the Mashpee Subdivision Regulations; 

 

The remaining cost for the work to complete said construction and installation, as set forth on the 

attached spreadsheet is $238,350.00 and the Board requires an additional 50%, or a total of 

$357,525 (the “Security”) to be retained by the Lender as undisbursed construction funds as 

security for completion of the work. 

 

The Lender does agree to retain the Security in undisbursed construction funds otherwise due the 

Applicant to secure said construction and installation all in accordance with the construction 

disbursement schedule attached hereto (the “Disbursement Schedule”); and 

 

The Board is agreeable to an arrangement whereby the Lender is to retain the Security to secure 

the said construction and installation. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant, Lender and Board hereby agree as follows: 

 

1. In order to secure the construction of ways and installation of municipal services in said 

subdivision in accordance with the Rules and Regulations of the Board, the Lender agrees 

to retain in its possession first mortgage  and secured line of credit proceeds in the amount 

of  $357,525, and to disburse said money to the Applicant in accordance with the 



TRIPARTITE AGREEMENT 
 

 

Disbursement Schedule only after  the Board has notified the Lender in form of a letter that 

the work has been satisfactorily  completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of 

the Disbursement Schedule and Mashpee Subdivision Rules and Regulations. 

 

2. The Applicant agrees to complete the said construction and installation as provided in said 

Rules and Regulations and Applicant and Lender agree that if the work is not satisfactorily 

completed by 12/31/2025 then, upon notice to the Lender and Applicant in writing of such 

non-completion, said funds shall forthwith be available to the Town of Mashpee for the 

completion of said construction and installation. 

 

3. The Applicant agrees to appear before the Board annually to provide progress reports on 

the work indentified in the Disbursement Schedule. 

 

4. The MASHPEE PLANNING BOARD hereby releases all of the lots shown on the 

Subdivision Plan from the Covenant. 

 

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be executed in their behalf as 

of the day and year first above written. 

 

SILVA DEVELOPMENT LLC MASHPEE PLANNING BOARD 

 

 

BY:__________________________ _______________________________ 

       Leonardo L. DaSilva, Manager 

 

 _______________________________ 

 

NORWOOD BANK 

 ________________________________ 

 

 

BY:___________________________ ________________________________ 

        John J. Crowley, Vice President 

 

 ________________________________ 

 

  

  



TRIPARTITE AGREEMENT 
 

 

 
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 

Norfolk:ss                         January ___, 2023 

 
Then personally appeared before me the above-named Leonardo L. DaSivla, Manager, who produced a 

valid driver’s license as evidence of identity and acknowledged the foregoing to be true and accurate and 

that it was executed for its within stated purpose and as his free act and deed. 

 

 

 

            

      Notary Public 

      My Commission Expires: 

  
 

 

 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 

Norfolk:ss                         January ___, 2023 

 
Then personally appeared before me the above-named John J. Crowley, Vice President, who produced a 

valid driver’s license as evidence of identity and acknowledged the foregoing to be true and accurate and 

that it was executed for its within stated purpose and as his free act and deed. 

 

 

 

            

      Notary Public 

      My Commission Expires: 

 

 



TRIPARTITE AGREEMENT 
 

 

 

 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 

Barnstable: ss                          January ___, 2023 

 
Then personally appeared before me _____________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________, in their respective capacities as members of the 

Mashpee Planning Board, who each produced a valid driver’s license as evidence of identity and 

acknowledged the foregoing to be true and accurate and that it was executed for its within stated purpose 

and as his/her free act and deed. 

 

            

      Notary Public 

      My Commission Expires: 

 































































Developing a 
comprehensive 
regional housing 
strategy to secure 
our region’s 
future

Developing a regional 
housing strategy that will 
address the housing 
supply, affordability, and 
availability issues facing 
the region is a key 
recommendation of the 
Regional Policy Plan. 
Successful implementation 
of the regional housing 
plan will not only provide 
residents with safe and 
attainable housing, but will 
also provide a more 
reliable workforce and 
customer base for our 
local businesses. 

A F F O R D A B L E  A N D  A T T A I N A B L E  H O U S I N G  C H A L L E N G E S
Affordable and attainable housing for people with a variety of income levels and needs is key to a vibrant, 
healthy, and resilient region. However, Cape Cod is facing a significant challenge in providing affordable 
and attainable housing for current and future Cape Cod residents. The region’s draw as a seasonal and 
retirement destination, combined with regulatory and physical limitations have resulted in a highly 
constrained housing market that is unaffordable to many residents; a problem which has only become 
more acute during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Baseline Data – Compilation and analysis of the current population and 
housing units in the county, by subregion, and town will provide a deeper 
understanding of the current housing landscape. This will look into affordability of 
housing in those geographies, as well as regulatory or land use characteristics 
and traits of the current housing stock. 

Regional Housing 
Strategy

P R O J E C T  E L E M E N T S

Stakeholder Engagement – Through a series of meetings, an online 
survey, and focus groups, stakeholders will identify housing preferences, barriers 
to providing desired housing in the region, and strategies and tools for 
overcoming those challenges.

Strategies & Recommendations – Based on the feedback from the 
stakeholder meetings and the initial data collection and compilation process, 
strategies and recommendations will be identified for implementation and 
facilitating action toward solving for the region’s housing challenges. 

Residential Design Guidelines – Residential guidelines will help 
facilitate residential development that provides more diversity in housing options 
and types, including net-zero housing, but in forms that still complement and fit in 
the with character of the region. 

N O V E M B E R  2 0 2 2 *

*Project elements are subject to change.

Decision Support Tool – A decision support tool will help local staff and 
leaders achieve housing goals and visions, based on the challenges and strategies 
identified in the plan. 

Regional Affordable Housing Entities – Commission staff will 
evaluate the potential, and develop recommendations, for new regional entities 
to manage the development of additional affordable housing units for the 
region, to augment the Strategy’s recommendations.



1.1%
Asian

8.6%
Other

2.7%
American
Indian

2.4%
Black

85.1%
White

21% 
Under 25 Years

21%
25-44 Years

28%
45-64 Years

30%
Over 65 Years

DUPLEX/
TRIPLEX

1.1%

CONDO/
APARTMENT

28.7%

MOBILE
HOME

0%
COMPOUND

0.8%

MIX OF
USES
0.7%

SINGLE FAMILY HOUSING TYPES
68.8% of residential properties

TINY 
HOME
0.4%

EXTRA
SMALL

LOT HOME
50.1%

SMALL
LOT HOME

13.0%

MEDIUM 
LOT HOME

3.6%

LARGE
LOT HOME

1.0%

EXTRA
LARGE
HOME
0.6%

MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING TYPES
29.8% of residential properties

OTHER TYPES
1.5% of properties

24.1%
2000 or later

2%
1900-1949

18.6% 
1950-1974

55.3%
1975-1999

0.1% 
1850-
1899

84% OWN 16%
RENT 54% OWN 11% 

RENT
32% 

SEASONAL

4% VACANT, OTHER

Key Demographic and Economic Information 

Current Housing Stock

Housing Stock by Year Built
Like the region, the majority of 
housing units in the town were built 
between 1950 and 1999. Almost 1/4 of 
Mashpee’s housing stock was built in 
the 2000s, which is relatively high for 
the region. (Assessors data and CCC housing typology analysis)

The Cape Cod Commission conducted a housing typology study using local assessors’ data and state class property codes. The graph below shows the 
distribution of various types of residences using this data, which differs slightly from the ACS counts. In Mashpee, about 69% of residential properties 
are single family homes; about 30% are are multi-family properties. Less than 2% are other types of properties which may be single family or 
multi-family homes such as compounds, which may include multiple houses on one parcel occupied by different households or a single family home 
with a guest house. Mix of uses are properties that have at least one residence on them but also have some sort of other use such as agricultural or 
commercial. 

Mashpee by Age

Mashpee by Race

The Town of Mashpee has an estimated year-round 
population of just over 15,000 residents. It is bordered 
by Sandwich on the north, Vineyard Sound on the south, 
Falmouth on the west, and Barnstable on the east. About 
32% of homes in the town are seasonal, which is slightly 
lower than the region as a whole (36%). The Town of 
Mashpee contains one Community Activity Center within 
its boundaries: Mashpee Commons. 

Owners and Renters Seasonality
There are about 6,600 year-round occupied housing units in Mashpee; 
of these, 84% are owner and 16% are renter-occupied. (ACS 2021 5-year Estimates) 

About 1/3 of all housing units in Mashpee are used for seasonal, 
recreational, or occasional use. (ACS 2021 5-year Estimates) 

POPULATION

15,060

HOUSEHOLDS HOUSEHOLD 
SIZE

6,603 2.26

HOUSING 
UNITS
10,757

MEDIAN HOME PRICE 
(OCT 2022 YTD)

MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD 
INCOME (2021)

$785,000 $83,563

RESIDENTIAL  
PROPERTY TAX RATE
$8.03 (FY22)

(2020 Decennial Census; ACS 2021 5-year Estimates; Cape Cod and Islands Association of Realtors — single family home prices;  
Massachusetts Department of Revenue)

Housing Profile: Mashpee

DRAFT | DECEMBER 2022

D
RA

F T



0% 5% 10% 15% 20%

Less than
$10,000

$10,000 to
$24,999

$25,000 to
$49,999

$50,000 to
$74,999

$75,000 to
$99,999

$100,000 to
$149,999

$150,000 to
$199,999

$200,000
or more

6%

11%

15%

15%

14%

18%

11%

10%

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

Jan Feb March April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec

2019
2020
2021

Mashpee

*Annual income refers to a household’s earnings , while annual wage refers to an individual’s earnings

Average Monthly Employment 

0

$50K

$60K

$70K

$80K

$90K

$20K

$10K

$30K

$40K

4000 800 1,200

CONSTRUCTION

ACCOMMODATION +
FOOD SERVICES

RETAIL TRADE

$61K

ARTS, ENTERTAINMENT +
RECREATION

$37K

$30K

$38K

HEALTH CARE AND 
SOCIAL ASSISTANCE

$55K

ANNUAL HOUSEHOLD INCOME
NEEDED TO AFFORD MEDIAN 
PRICED HOUSE (2022): 
$239,000 

MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOME
(2021): 
$83,563 

ANNUAL HOUSEHOLD INCOME
NEEDED TO AFFORD MEDIAN 
PRICED RENT (2021): 
$54,600 

$240K

SUBSIDIZED HOUSING 
INVENTORY UNITS

5.3% of housing units

343             units

Affordable Housing Units
The Massachusetts Subsidized Housing 
Inventory is used to measure a 
community’s stock of low-or moderate-
income housing for the purposes of M.G.L. 
Chapter 40B, the Comprehensive Permit 
Law, which encourages communities 
to have 10% of their housing stock be 
affordable for low-to-moderate income 
households. While housing developed 
under Chapter 40B is eligible for inclusion 
on the inventory, many other types of 
housing also qualify to count toward a 
community’s affordable housing stock. 

Housing Cost Burdened
A household is considered cost burdened when housing costs exceed 
more than 30% of monthly income. (ACS 2021 5-year Estimates)

49%
36%

... of owner households in 
Mashpee spend 30% 
or more of income on 

housing costs

...of renter households in 
Mashpee spend 30% 
or more of income on 

housing costs

Like much of the region, employment in Mashpee can be highly seasonal. In 2019, 
employment peaked in July at 34% more than the low in February. Due to the pandemic, 
2020 patterns were significantly different, but in 2021 started to return to pre-pandemic 
levels and trends.  
(MA Labor Market Information, ES-202 data) 

Wages, Employment, and Housing Affordability

Households per Income Bracket Employment by Month

(ACS 2021 5-year Estimates) 

Housing Affordability

Households per Income Bracket Employment by Month

(These numbers do not yet reflect 2020 Census 
data as the necessary data are not yet available.) 

In 2021 the median price for a home 
for sale in Mashpee was $582,500. 

In 2022, prices only increased. 
The October YTD median single-
family home price was $785,000. 

Average wages in the town’s largest 
industries by employment fall well 
below what is needed to affordably 

purchase a home at median sales 
prices (affordably purchase means 

a household spends 30% or less 
on housing costs). While the 

median gross rent, according to 
the American Community Survey, 
is more affordable, availability of 

year-round rental housing  
is very limited.

(Annual income refers to a household’s earnings, while 
annual wage refers to an individual’s earnings. Data: 

Cape Cod and Islands Association of Realtors; 2021 
ACS 5-Yr Estimates; Draft 2022 Cape Cod Housing 
Needs Assessment; 2017 Regional Housing Market 

Study; MA Labor Market Information, ES-202 data) 

DRAFT | DECEMBER 2022

Housing Profile: Mashpee

D
RA

F T



Residential Development Ordinances
Zoning

Community Activity Centers
Community Activity Centers are areas with a concentration of business activity, community activity, and a compact built environment that may be 
suitable for additional multi-family housing and a mix of uses at a scale of growth and development desired by the community. The vision for these 
areas is to accommodate these uses in a walkable, vibrant area, preserve historic buildings, and to provide diverse services, shopping, recreation, 
civic spaces, housing, and job opportunities, with adequate infrastructure and pedestrian amenities to support development. Seventeen Community 
Activity Centers have been identified across the region. Mashpee has one identified Community Activity Center: Mashpee Commons.  

Zoning Districts

As with most Cape towns, the vast majority of the town 
is zoned for residential uses, as can be seen in the map 
and the graph. These zoning categories are broad and 
do not capture the many nuances of the specific zoning 
regulations for each district, nor do they include 
overlay districts, but help to provide a summary of the 
distribution of land available for certain types of uses 
throughout town. 

Residential 80%  
Commercial 5%  
Industrial 15%  

Mashpee

PERCENT 
OF ZONED 

AREA

Mashpee Commons

The Mashpee Commons Community Activity Center 
is focused around Route 28 and Route 151 and the 
commercial uses there. It is surrounded by undeveloped 
land and residential land. Residential uses comprise very 
little of the community activity center area in terms of 
land use. 

Residential 9%
Commercial 41%
Tax Exempt 32%
Industrial 4% 
Multiple Uses 12%
Conservation 2%  

ESTIMATED 
HOUSING UNITS

128

COMMUNITY ACTIVITY 
CENTER AREA (ACRES)

361

ESTIMATED HOUSING 
UNITS PER ACRE

0.4

D
RA

F T
Accessory Dwelling Unit by Right Inclusionary Zoning PolicyMulti-family Housing by Right
An accessory dwelling unit (ADU) is a 
secondary housing unit on a single-
family residential lot. ADUs can include 
over-garage units, carriage houses, or 
in-house apartments, and may provide 
more affordable housing options. 

Inclusionary zoning requires or 
incentivizes private developers to 
designate a certain percentage of the 
units in a given project as available to 
lower to moderate income households.

Multi-family zoning by right makes the 
ability to develop multi-family units 
in certain districts of a town easier, 
supporting expanding and diversifying 
the housing stock.

NOT ADOPTEDALLOWED

Zoning

NOT ALLOWED

PERCENT 
OF AREA 
BY LAND 

USE

DRAFT | DECEMBER 2022

Housing Profile: Mashpee



 

 Regional Housing Strategy  |  1 

SCOPE OF WORK 

Regional Housing Strategy 

September 2022 

 

 
Affordable and attainable housing for people with a variety of income levels and needs is key to a 
vibrant, healthy, and resilient region. However, Cape Cod is facing a significant challenge in providing 
affordable and attainable housing for current and future Cape Cod residents. This impacts not only 
those seeking housing, but also our economy as employers may struggle to find employees locally. 
The region’s draw as a seasonal and retirement destination and the strong Boston economy, 
combined with regulatory and physical limitations have resulted in a highly constrained housing 
market that is unaffordable to many residents; a problem which has only become more acute 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. Even prior to the pandemic, the income needed to affordably 
purchase a home at median sales prices exceeded the median household income in all towns and 
over the past year, median sales prices have increased throughout the region.  

Following is a scope of work for developing a regional housing strategy that will address the housing 
supply, affordability, and availability issues facing the region by identifying appropriate areas for 
housing development and creating policies and strategies to further the goals of the strategy. 
Successful implementation of the regional housing plan will not only provide residents with safe and 
attainable housing, but will also provide a more reliable workforce and customer base for our local 
businesses.  

Scope of Work 

TASK 1:  BACKGROUND DATA AND INFORMATION GATHERING 

In order to understand our current housing landscape, we will need to gather data and information 
at the regional, town, and community activity center level. This will include understanding the 
current population and housing units in these geographies, what people can afford, and other 
elements such as regulatory or land use characteristics. This work will build off of the current work 
the Commission is doing to compile a housing typology for the region which includes information on 
residential properties, such as type of property (single-family or multi-family), building size, and lot 
size, at the regional and town levels. This information, and the other data points to be collected and 
analyzed (see the appendix for a list of data points) will be compiled into regional and individual 



SCOPE OF WORK 

 Regional Housing Strategy SOW  |  2 

town housing profiles, which will include information on the 17 Community Activity Centers 
throughout the region, identified in the 2018 Regional Policy Plan as focal areas for housing 
development. A consultant will be engaged to develop population and housing needs projections 
through 2050.  

These profiles will be available online and profiles will serve as the baseline information presented 
during the first stakeholder meetings. In addition to the profiles, Commission staff will review other 
housing strategies across the state and nation and identify unique strategies for addressing housing 
challenges. Some of these strategies will be highlighted in case studies which will also be made 
available online. 

Also as part of this task, a consultant will be engaged to conduct an analysis of existing zoning in the 
region to identify where different types of housing are allowed to be built and the potential 
permitting pathways (e.g., by right, by special permit).   

Deliverables 
■ Housing profiles for the region and towns 
■ Housing strategy case studies 
■ Zoning analysis that shows where in the region different types of housing can be built by right 

and by special permit  

TASK 2: FIRST STAKEHOLDER MEETINGS: INTRODUCTION TO HOUSING 
LANDSCAPE AND MISSING MIDDLE HOUSING 

Once the data are compiled for Task 1, stakeholder meetings will begin. This will include meetings to 
seek input from each of the 15 towns, using the housing profiles for the towns and region as the 
basis for the information presented at those meetings. Participants at these meetings will include 
municipal staff and representatives as well as members of the public. In addition to a meeting for 
each town, separate focus group meetings will be held for affordable housing advocates and 
practitioners, open space and conservation advocates and practitioners, housing developers, large 
employers, and other housing and economic development organizations as appropriate. During 
these initial meetings, participants will learn about the existing housing landscape in the region, as 
well as the concept of missing middle housing and its various forms. Participants will share what 
types of housing they want to see in different areas in their towns, community activity centers, and 
the region. This will provide similar information and opportunities for input as the online survey, 
which will be available following these meetings for further and expanded input.  

Potential meeting structure 

■ Provide an overview of the current housing landscape in towns, its community activity centers, 
and the region at large  



SCOPE OF WORK 

 Regional Housing Strategy SOW  |  3 

■ Presentation providing an introduction to missing middle housing types  
■ This will include examples of missing middle housing types in that community/the region 

■ Ask participants to provide feedback on what types of housing they’d like to see in their 
communities  

■ In small groups, step through the different missing middle housing types and for each 
type ask if it seems appropriate for their community and if so, where. If not, why not?  

■ Summary discussion on which types of housing seemed most desired or supported by 
stakeholders in their town and the region  

■ Wrap up and next steps  

Deliverables 
■ Identified stakeholder list  
■ Outreach materials for meetings 
■ Stakeholder meeting materials development  
■ Facilitation of stakeholder meetings 
■ Meeting notes  

TASK 3: ONLINE PREFERENCE SURVEY 

Simultaneously with, or following, the initial stakeholder meetings, an online survey, developed with 
a consultant, will be available for stakeholders to complete. The survey will help to gather more 
information on what types of housing people would like to see and where in their communities. This 
survey will focus on the different types of multi-family housing given the predominance of single-
family homes in the region and the lack of other types of housing options. The online tool will allow 
respondents to identify where certain types of missing middle housing are appropriate and 
desirable. 

Deliverables 
■ Online visual preference survey  
■ Outreach materials for survey  
■ Survey analysis 

TASK 4: SECOND STAKEHOLDER MEETINGS: HOUSING PREFERENCES & 
BARRIERS  

Commission staff will conduct a second round of stakeholder meetings in each of the towns. During 
these meetings, a summary of the results of the online survey and the feedback from the initial 
meeting relevant for their community will be presented. Following this background presentation, 
attendees will brainstorm what they believe are the barriers and challenges to creating the desired 
types of housing in the appropriate and desired areas in their communities and the region.   



SCOPE OF WORK 

 Regional Housing Strategy SOW  |  4 

Potential meeting structure 

■ Presentation of summary of feedback from first meeting and online survey, clearly identifying 
which types of missing middle housing are desired and where  

■ Facilitated discussion on what attendees see as key challenges/barriers to affordable and 
attainable housing in their town and the region (e.g., zoning, infrastructure, etc.)  

■ Ask participants to share any efforts in their town to address housing challenges in anticipation 
of the third meeting  

■ Wrap up and next steps  

Deliverables 
■ Outreach materials for meetings 
■ Stakeholder meeting materials development 
■ Facilitation of stakeholder meetings 
■ Meeting notes  

TASK 5: THIRD STAKEHOLDER MEETINGS: IDENTIFYING STRATEGIES & 
TOOLS 

After synthesizing the feedback from the previous meetings, a third round of stakeholder meetings 
will be held in each town which will focus on developing strategies for the regional housing plan. The 
meeting will begin with a brief summary of desired housing types and locations from the previous 
meetings and survey, followed by an overview of the key challenges to creating and sustaining those 
types of housing from the second round of meetings. After this overview, participants will be asked 
to brainstorm strategies and tools for addressing the housing challenges in their community and 
supporting development of the desired types of housing.  

Potential meeting structure 
■ Presentation on desired housing types for the community and key challenges to developing that 

type of housing  
■ Facilitated discussion or brainstorm on possible strategies or recommended actions to help 

address housing challenges in their community and the region and foster desired housing 
development  

■ Spend dedicated portions of time on different types of strategies and tools (e.g., 
regulatory, financial, etc.) as well as asking participants to identify relevant actors for the 
strategies  

■ Wrap up and next steps  

Deliverables 
■ Outreach materials for meetings 
■ Stakeholder meeting materials development  



SCOPE OF WORK 

 Regional Housing Strategy SOW  |  5 

■ Facilitation of stakeholder meetings  
■ Meeting notes  

TASK 6: REGIONAL AFFORDABLE HOUSING ENTITIES  

To inform and augment the strategies and recommendations of the Plan that arise from the 
stakeholder meetings, Commission staff will work with a consultant to evaluate the potential and 
develop recommendations for new regional entities to manage the development of additional 
affordable housing units for the region. This will include a review of existing entities in the region 
that are operating in this sphere, as well as looking beyond the region for examples of entities 
elsewhere that effectively manage development of additional affordable housing.   

Deliverables 
■ Identification and recommendation of potential new regional entities for the management of 

additional affordable housing development  

TASK 7: DEVELOP AND REFINE POTENTIAL STRATEGIES AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

Using the feedback from the stakeholder meetings, Commission staff will compile and refine 
strategies for addressing the region’s housing challenges and supporting the desired housing 
development. The strategies may include recommendations for regulatory or zoning changes, 
financing opportunities, ideas for actions municipalities can take, as well as ideas for actions 
advocates and non-profit organizations can take. Strategies and recommendations may also be 
organized by Placetype. These strategies will be available in a draft document for further 
stakeholder feedback. Additionally, at public meetings in each subregion, the draft strategies will be 
shared for feedback, highlighting the most applicable for the areas in that subregion. Focus group 
meetings will also provide opportunities to obtain feedback on the draft strategies.  

Potential meeting structure 
■ Presentation on draft strategies  
■ Facilitated discussion on feedback for refining the draft strategies  
■ Wrap up and next steps  

Deliverables 
■ Draft compiled strategies document 
■ Four subregional listening sessions on the draft strategies 
■ Focus group listening sessions of the draft strategies   



SCOPE OF WORK 

 Regional Housing Strategy SOW  |  6 

TASK 8: DEVELOP DRAFT & FINAL PLAN 

Based on the feedback from the stakeholder meetings and the initial data collection and 
compilation, Commission staff will develop a draft regional housing plan. The draft will be shared 
electronically for public comment and feedback prior to being finalized. It will contain background 
information, an overview of the stakeholder process, a summary of the feedback from the 
stakeholder process, and a robust discussion of strategies and recommendations. Commission staff 
will finalize the plan based on the feedback on the draft plan.  

Deliverables 
■ Draft plan 
■ Final plan 

TASK 9: DEVELOP REGIONAL RESIDENTIAL DESIGN GUIDELINES 

To help facilitate residential development that provides more diversity in housing options and types, 
but in forms that still complement and fit in the with character of the region, Commission staff will 
engage a consultant to develop Cape Cod residential design guidelines. The pattern book will be 
something municipalities can point developers to as a resource for developing housing that fits into 
the region’s community character. It can also be used as a tool to help streamline permitting by 
clarifying development expectations up front.  

Deliverables 
■ Cape Cod Residential Design Guidelines  

TASK 10: DEVELOP REGIONAL DESIGN GUIDELINES FOR RESIDENTIAL 
NET-ZERO CONSTRUCTION 

To help facilitate residential development that is more energy efficient and helps mitigate the 
impacts of climate change, Commission staff and a consultant will conduct an evaluation of new net-
zero building standards and building options. Following the evaluation to ensure a deep and clear 
understanding of net-zero residential building, staff and the consultant will work to develop region-
specific design guidelines for residential net-zero construction to facilitate greater implementation 
throughout the region. The guidelines will include considerations of the cost differences for net-zero 
construction, methods for net-zero residential construction, and may also highlight retrofitting 
historic structures, as well as identifying possible funding opportunities (if they exist) to support net-
zero construction. As appropriate, standards and guidelines will be incorporated into the overall 
regional residential design guidelines developed as Task 9.  

Deliverables 
■ Evaluation and summary of net-zero standards for residential construction 
■ Design guidelines to facilitate net-zero residential construction in the region 



SCOPE OF WORK 

 Regional Housing Strategy SOW  |  7 

TASK 11: DEVELOP A DECISION SUPPORT TOOL 

Based on the challenges and strategies identified in the plan and through the planning process, 
Commission staff will work with a consultant to develop a decision support tool that will help local 
staff and leaders achieve housing goals and visions. The tool may include functionalities such as 
allowing a user to identify zoning and permitting processes for developing different types of housing 
in certain areas, potentially identifying barriers to housing in areas throughout the region, as well as 
changes that may need to occur or strategies to implement to overcome those barriers.  

Deliverables 
■ Regional housing decision support tool  

  



SCOPE OF WORK 

 Regional Housing Strategy SOW  |  8 

Appendix 

TASK 1:  ANTICIPATED DATA TO BE COLLECTED 

Demographics and economics (region and town) 

• Population (current and 2035) 
o By age 
o Source: Census  

• Number of households and type (current and 2035) 
o Source: Census/Housing Market Study  

• Jobs (current and 2035) 
o Occupation/industry  
o Source: Census/BLS 

Housing and household characteristics (region and town) 

■ Housing typology statistics 
■ Number of housing units  

i. Single-family, multifamily, mobile units, etc.  
ii. Structure (e.g., single-family, multifamily)  
iii. Building size 
iv. Lot size 
v. Percent single-family vs. multi-family  

■ 50%, 80%, 100%, 120%, >120% Median Household Income (rental and owner) 
■ Also AMI (HUD uses AMI) 
■ Source: Census and HUD  

■ Affordable home price and gross rent  
■ Source: CCC analysis and Census data  

■ Estimated unit demand (current) 
■ Source: Regional Housing Market Study  

■ Estimated unit supply (current) 
■ Source: Regional Housing Market Study  

■ Median home price  
■ Source: CCIAOR  

■ Home occupancy characteristics 
■ Seasonal 
■ Vacant 
■ Source: Census data  

■ New and second homeowner survey information as relevant   



SCOPE OF WORK 

 Regional Housing Strategy SOW  |  9 

■ Other data points for consideration:  
■ Homelessness 
■ Population disability status 

Community Activity Center characteristics 

■ Land use characteristics (% commercial, residential (sf vs. multifamily), protected open space, 
industrial, etc.) 

■ Population (with age cohorts) 
■ Median household income 
■ # of residential units and type (sf vs. other) 
■ Size of residential units 
■ # of Affordable housing units or properties (State Subsidized Housing Inventory)  
■ Age of structures 
■ # of jobs 
■ Zoning districts (maybe more map, less numerical) 

■ List of community amenities in the CAC 
■ Walkability score  

Community Activity Centers by SubRegion 
■ Upper Cape (5): Sandwich Downtown, Buzzards Bay, Woods Hole, Falmouth, Mashpee Rotary 
■ Mid Cape (7): Osterville, Barnstable Village, Hyannis, South Yarmouth, West Dennis, Dennis 

Village, Dennis Port 
■ Lower Cape (3): Harwich Port, Chatham, Orleans (none in Brewster) 
■ Outer Cape (2): Wellfleet, Provincetown (none in Truro and Eastham) 

Municipal factors  

■ Collect information for each town on whether they have affordable housing trusts, committees, 
etc.  

■ Collect information for each town on where they allow multifamily development/other zoning or 
regulations that might be relevant  

*Projections for population and households for 2035 will require a new analysis, likely to be carried 
out by a consultant.  

 



1.4%
Asian

9.3%
Other

0.5%
American
Indian

0.04%
Native Hawaiian/
Other Pacific Islander

2.9%
Black

85.8%
White

22% 
Under 25 Years

18%
25-44 Years

30%
45-64 Years

30%
Over 65 Years

DUPLEX/
TRIPLEX

3.4%

CONDO/
APARTMENT

14.4%

MOBILE
HOME

0%
COMPOUND

2.0%

MIX OF
USES
1.2%

SINGLE FAMILY HOUSING TYPES
79.0% of residential properties

TINY 
HOME
0.7%

EXTRA
SMALL

LOT HOME
48.2%

SMALL
LOT HOME

19.6%

MEDIUM 
LOT HOME

7.6%

LARGE
LOT HOME

2.1%

EXTRA
LARGE
HOME
0.8%

MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING TYPES
17.8% of residential properties

OTHER TYPES
3.2% of properties

County

0.6%
Before

1800

12.1%
2000 or later

2.9% 
1850-1899

10.5%
1900-1949

33.8%
1950-1974

38.7%
1975-1999

1.3%
1800-1849

County

81% OWN 19% RENT

County

48% OWN 11% 
RENT

36% 
SEASONAL

4% VACANT, OTHER

(2020 Decennial Census; ACS 2021 5-year Estimates; Cape Cod and Islands Association of Realtors; Massachusetts Department of Revenue)

POPULATION

228,996

HOUSEHOLDS HOUSEHOLD 
SIZE

98,163 2.3

HOUSING 
UNITS
164,885

MEDIAN HOME PRICE 
(OCT 2022 YTD)

MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD 
INCOME (2021)

$690,000 $82,619

Key Demographic and Economic Information 

Current Housing Stock

Housing Stock by Year Built
Almost 90% of the region’s housing 
stock is more than 20 years old. The 
vast majority of housing units in the 
region were built between 1950 and 
1999. (Assessors data and CCC housing typology analysis)

The Cape Cod Commission conducted a housing typology study using local assessors’ data and state class property codes. The graph below shows 
the distribution of various types of residences using this data, which differs slightly from the ACS counts. County-wide, nearly 80% of residential 
properties are single family homes; almost 18% are multi family properties. The remaining 3.2% are other types of properties that may be single 
family or multifamily homes such as compounds, which may include multiple houses on one parcel occupied by different households or a single family 
home with a guest house. Mix of uses are properties that have at least one residence on them but also have some sort of other use such as agricultural 
or commercial. 

Barnstable County by Age

Barnstable County by Race

Barnstable County has a year-round population of nearly 
229,000, according to the most recent decennial census. 
The median household income is about $82,600, lower 
than the Massachusetts median household income of 
approximately $89,000. The county is also older than 
the state and a significant portion of the housing stock, 
36%, is used for seasonal use or as second homes. The 15 
towns that comprise Barnstable County are all unique but 
face many similar challenges when it comes to housing 
affordability and availability.  

Owners and Renters Seasonality
There are about 98,000 occupied housing units in the region; of these, 
81% are owner-occupied and 19% are renter-occupied. (ACS 2021 5-year Estimates) 

Approximately 36% of all housing units in the region are used for 
seasonal, recreational, or occasional use. (ACS 2021 5-year Estimates) 

Housing Profile: Barnstable County

DRAFT | DECEMBER 2022

D
RA

F T



County

0% 5% 10% 15% 20%

Less than
$10,000

$10,000 to
$24,999

$25,000 to
$49,999

$50,000 to
$74,999

$75,000 to
$99,999

$100,000 to
$149,999

$150,000 to
$199,999

$200,000
or more

4%

9%

17%

16%

13%

18%

11%

13%
60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

Jan Feb March April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec

2019
2020
2021

CountyCounty

County

*Annual income refers to a household’s earnings , while annual wage refers to an individual’s earnings

Average Monthly Employment 

0

$50K

$60K

$70K

$80K

$90K

$210K

$20K

$10K

$30K

$40K

5,0000 10,000 15,000

EDUCATIONAL
SERVICES

ACCOMMODATION +
FOOD SERVICES

RETAIL TRADE
$61K

CONSTRUCTION

$69K

$36K

$43K

HEALTH CARE AND 
SOCIAL ASSISTANCE

$65K

ANNUAL HOUSEHOLD INCOME
NEEDED TO AFFORD MEDIAN 
PRICED HOUSE (2022): 
$210,000

MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOME
(2021): 
$82,619

ANNUAL HOUSEHOLD INCOME
NEEDED TO AFFORD MEDIAN 
PRICED RENT (2021): 
$56,320

Housing Cost Burdened
A household is considered cost burdened when housing costs exceed 
more than 30% of monthly income. (ACS 2021 5-year Estimates)

51%

25%

57%

31%

Barnstable

... of owner households in 
Barnstable County spend 
30% or more of income 

on housing costs

...of renter households in 
Barnstable County spend 
30% or more of income 

on housing costs

Employment in the region is highly seasonal, given the draw as a tourism and second-
homeowner destination. In 2019, employment peaked in July at 34% more than the low in 
February. Due to the pandemic, 2020 patterns were significantly different, but in 2021 started 
to return to pre-pandemic levels and trends.  
(MA Labor Market Information, ES-202 data) 

Wages, Employment, and Housing Affordability

Households per Income Bracket Employment by Month

(ACS 2021 5-year Estimates) 

Housing Affordability
In 2021 the median price for a 

home for sale in the region was 
$540,000. In 2022, prices only 

increased. The October YTD 
median single-family home price 
was $690,000. Average wages in 
the county’s largest industries by 
employment fall well below what 
is needed to affordably purchase 

a home at median sales prices 
(affordably purchase means a 

household spends 30% or less on 
housing costs). While the median 

gross rent, according to the 
American Community Survey, is 

more affordable, availability of 
year-round rental housing  

is very limited.

(Annual income refers to a household’s earnings, while 
annual wage refers to an individual’s earnings. Data: 

Cape Cod and Islands Association of Realtors; 2021 
ACS 5-Yr Estimates; 2022 Cape Cod Housing Needs 

Assessment; 2017 Regional Housing Market Study; MA 
Labor Market Information, ES-202 data) 

Households per Income Bracket Employment by Month

SUBSIDIZED HOUSING 
INVENTORY (SHI) UNITS 
Regional Total

6.0% of the region’s housing 
units are listed on the SHI

6,255          units

(These numbers do not yet reflect 2020 Census data as 
the necessary data are not yet available.) 

Affordable Housing Units
The Massachusetts Subsidized Housing 
Inventory is used to measure a 
community’s stock of low-or moderate-
income housing for the purposes of 
M.G.L. Chapter 40B, the Comprehensive 
Permit Law, which encourages towns 
to have 10% of their housing stock be 
affordable for low-to-moderate income 
households. While housing developed 
under Chapter 40B is eligible for inclusion 
on the inventory, many other types of 
housing also qualify to count toward a 
community’s affordable housing stock. 

DRAFT | DECEMBER 2022

Housing Profile: Barnstable County

D
RA

F T



Community Activity Centers
Community Activity Centers are one of eight Placetypes, areas 
with similar natural and built characteristics, identified in the 
2018 Regional Policy Plan. Community Activity Centers are areas 
with a concentration of business activity, community activity, and 
a compact built environment that may be suitable for additional 
housing and a mix of uses. They are typically more walkable 
and densely developed than other Placetypes and often contain 
concentrations of historic buildings that contribute to the region’s 
unique character. The vision for these areas is to accommodate a 
mixed-use and multifamily development in a walkable, vibrant 
area, preserve historic buildings, and to provide diverse services, 
shopping, recreation, civic spaces, housing, and job opportunities, 
with adequate infrastructure and pedestrian amenities to support 
development. Seventeen Community Activity Centers have been 
identified across the region. 

The Housing Profiles have been created as a data resource by the 
Cape Cod Commission. Explore more data related to housing, 
demographics, and the economy at datacapecod.org.

C A P E C O D C O M M I S S I O N . O R G   •   D A T A C A P E C O D . O R G

County

Zoning Districts

The vast majority of land in the region is zoned for residential 
uses, as can be seen in the map and the graph below. Some of 
the primary uses for zones in the “other” category include those 
related to harbor and marina uses, municipal uses, and Joint 
Base Cape Cod. These zoning categories are broad and do not 
capture the many nuances of the specific zoning regulations 
for each district, nor do they include overlay districts, but help 
to provide a summary of the distribution of land available for 
certain types of uses throughout the region. 

PERCENT 
OF ZONED 

AREA

Residential 67%  
Commercial 4%  
Industrial 2%
Mixed Use 2%
Conservation /Agriculture 14%
Other 10%

CAPE COD PLACETYPES

DRAFT | DECEMBER 2022

Housing Profile: Barnstable County

D
RA

F T



I� - -� I MORIART�J!��!��\�ALLOYun��Y� Bielaa

January 6, 2023 

Via Email Only 
(jordan. velozo@capecodcommission.org; 
alexander.peterson@capecodcommission.org) 

Jordan Velozo, Esq., Chief Regulatory Officer 
Alexander Peterson, Esq., Regulatory Planner II 
Cape Cod Commission 
P.O. Box 226 
3225 Main Street 
Barnstable, MA 02630 

Direct Dial: (781) 817-4607 
kbielan@lawmtm.com 
Admitted in MA & RI 

Re: Falmouth Road Market, CCC File No. 21015 

Dear Attorneys Velozo and Peterson: 

On behalf of Project Applicant, Shell back Development LLC ("Applicant"), I write to 
respectfully request that the Applicant be permitted to withdraw, without prejudice, its 
application for a Development of Regional Impact ("Application") concerning the property 
located at 64 7 Falmouth Road (Route 28), Mashpee, Massachusetts ("Property"). 

The Applicant understands that the Subcommittee and Cape Cod Commission staff have 
outstanding concerns relative to the ability to safely ingress and egress from the Property, which 
cannot be adequately addressed in light of the present site configuration. Accordingly, after 
consultation with the prospective tenant, it is the Applicant's intention to diligently pursue 
alternative avenues that will enable the Applicant to resubmit its Application in the near term. 
While the Applicant is loathe to seek to withdraw its Application at this stage after ample 
substantive discussion and public participation has occurred, it is confident that a future 
submission will, from its inception, address the Commission's concerns relative to access to the 
Property. 

The Applicant appreciates the substantial time and resources that have been expended by 
the Commission to review the Application and is confident that such efforts will ultimately lead 
to an approvable project that readily promotes the objectives of the Commission. Thank you for 
your attention to this matter. 

cc: Evan Lehrer, Mashpee Town Planner 

Respectfully, . 

��

Kimberly A. Bielan 

One Adams Place, 859 Willard Street, Suite 440, Quincy, MA 02169 • 781-817-4900 • www.lawmtm.com 

Boston • Falmouth • Quincy 








































































	221118 Regl Housing Strategy One Pager (1) (1).pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2

	221118 ReglHousingStrategySOW_September2022 (1) (1).pdf
	September 2022
	Scope of Work
	Task 1: Background data and information gathering
	Deliverables

	Task 2: First Stakeholder Meetings: Introduction to Housing landscape and Missing Middle Housing
	Potential meeting structure
	Deliverables


	Task 3: Online preference survey
	Deliverables

	Task 4: Second Stakeholder Meetings: Housing Preferences & Barriers
	Potential meeting structure
	Deliverables


	Task 5: Third Stakeholder Meetings: Identifying Strategies & Tools
	Potential meeting structure
	Deliverables

	Task 6: Regional Affordable Housing Entities
	Deliverables

	Task 7: Develop and refine potential strategies and recommendations
	Potential meeting structure
	Deliverables

	Task 8: Develop Draft & Final Plan
	Deliverables

	Task 9: Develop Regional Residential Design Guidelines
	Deliverables

	Task 10: Develop Regional Design Guidelines for Residential Net-Zero Construction
	Deliverables

	Task 11: Develop a decision support tool
	Deliverables


	Appendix
	Task 1: Anticipated Data to be collected
	Demographics and economics (region and town)
	Housing and household characteristics (region and town)
	Community Activity Center characteristics
	Community Activity Centers by SubRegion

	Municipal factors






